TEXT-BASED GRAMMAR IN CREE LANGUAGE EDUCATION

by

Freda Ahenakew

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of the University of Manitoba in partial fulfullment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

Winnipeg, Manitoba

1984

(c) Freda Ahenakew, 1984

TEXT-BASED GRAMMAR IN CREE LANGUAGE EDUCATION

BY

FREDA AHENAKEW

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of the University of Manitoba in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

© 1984

Permission has been granted to the LIBRARY OF THE UNIVER-SITY OF MANITOBA to lend or sell copies of this thesis, to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film, and UNIVERSITY MICROFILMS to publish an abstract of this thesis.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

CONTENTS

PREFACE	. v
INTRODUCTION Connected speech Books about Cree Dialect Style Reliability Teachers Textbooks A text-based approach	1 2 3 3 11 15 17 18 21
NOUN INFLECTION Inflectional distinctions Gender Number Obviative Locative Paradigm tables Stem shapes Cw-stems Vw- and Vy-stems Single-syllable stems Address forms Possession Dependent nouns Independent nouns	23 24 27 29 30 31 32 33 35 37 41 43 44 55
VERB INFLECTION VAI verbs a-stems e-/a-stems 1-stems O-stems O-stems O-stems N-stems Stem shapes Intransitive verbs VII verbs a-stems e-stems 1-stems Paired stems	61 65 65 71 78 81 83 88 92 99 100 102 107 108 109 110

VTI verbs	119
Transitive verbs	120
The VTI paradigm	122
Stem shapes	126
Paired stems	126
VTA verbs	131
Direction	131
Simple stems	134
Cw-stems	142
Vw-stems	147
t-stems	164
Special paradigms	180
Summary of special paradigms	181
The indefinite actor paradigm	182
The Indelinite actor paradrym	102
SYNTACTIC PARTICLES: A FIRST LOOK	187
Particles	187
Question particles	188
Particles as predications	190
oma-noun phrases as subject or object	191
oma in object noun phrases	193
oma in indirect object noun phrases	196
oma in subject noun phrases	197
Equational sentences with oma	198
Identifying the place	200
Identifying the time	201
Identifying "old" information	201
Identifying the manner	202
Questions	203
Simple adverbs	204
Personal pronouns	205
Factive oma	206
	207
Simple sentences with factive oma	211
Complex sentences with factive oma	213
Other uses of <u>oma</u>	213
TEACHING WITH TEXTS	215
Cree grammar	216
Syntax	216
Semantics	216
Derivation	220
Text-based language teaching	224
Cree education	225
cree education	220
REFERENCES	227

PREFACE

This thesis is meant as a guide to the use of literary texts in Cree language teaching. There are now a number of textbooks on Cree but the sentences they use to illustrate Cree grammar are often disjointed or unidiomatic.

I hope that students and teachers of Cree will find it useful to have an introduction to Cree grammar that builds up slowly.

Although some examples were constructed to highlight a particular point of grammar, most of the illustrations come from a collection of spontaneously told Plains Cree texts recently recorded in Saskatchewan.

Looking for grammatical examples in them is only one of the many ways that running texts can be used in the classroom. These texts are told in literary form and include funny stories and personal experiences as well as the advice of the elders.

My work in Cree linguistics was supported by the Northern Studies Committee, University of Manitoba and by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada. I am especially grateful for a travelling fellowship from the E. J. McMurray Trust.

During my studies at the University of Manitoba, I had a lot of moral support and practical help from my family and friends in Saskatoon and Winnipeg. I cannot list them all but I want to especially thank Dick Carter, Jenny Greensmith, Wes Hogman, John Nichols, David Potter, Pam Smith, Ellen Robinson, Ray Wiest and, finally, Chris Wolfart who was my graduate advisor and Arden Ogg who will never want to type another table.

This book is dedicated to Ida McLeod who for years worked tirelessly in the teaching of Cree and set such an example of both $n\bar{e}hiy\bar{a}wiwin$ and $n\bar{e}hiyaw\bar{e}win$.

INTRODUCTION

In speaking and understanding a language we make use of different patterns:

- sounds,
- words,
- sentences,
- meanings.

When linguists analyze a language, they group these patterns under the following headings:

- phonology,
- morphology,
- syntax,
- semantics.

These are the same patterns which a student must cope with in learning a second language.

In teaching a language, we usually deal with one area at a time. In fact, we can only present one minute "piece" of language structure at any one time. Minimal units of language teaching are organized in a step-by-step procedure -- but in reality a speaker uses all of them at once.

Each of these smallest units (and each of the larger patterns into which they can be combined) has to be illustrated by examples, and students need a great deal of practice for each "piece". But they also need to see how the "pieces" fit together into the overall pattern. This is where texts have their place in the language curriculum, because they are live examples of how the language works.

CONNECTED SPEECH

For languages that have been taught in schools for many years, there is a wealth of teaching materials at all levels. A well-designed French course, for example, would normally include short stories (with simple sentences) or modern plays (with lots of dialogue) to teach students to handle whole sentences. At first, these sentences need to be simple but as students become more confident, the material also can become more complex.

If a language teacher wanted to follow a similar approach for Cree, what could one use? The only Plains Cree books with consistent spelling that were not translated into Cree are the Plains Cree texts from Saskatchewan which Leonard Bloomfield collected in 1925. But using these formal texts would be like asking students who are just learning English to jump right into Shakespeare (or at least Jane Austen).

BOOKS ABOUT CREE

If you look up "Cree" in the subject catalogue of any large library, you will find many other books about the Cree language. To review all of these would, of course, take up a whole book by itself, but we will discuss a few of the problems typically found in such works.

Dialect

Cree sounds differ quite dramatically from dialect to dialect, and Cree is spoken all the way from Hudson's Bay to the Rockies. Even words and sentences that sound alike may not mean the same thing to all Cree speakers.

Let us start by looking at some actual examples of an eastern Cree dialect and compare them to Plains Cree. The eastern Cree examples are taken from the Spoken Cree of C. Douglas Ellis (1983) which is based on the Cree spoken at Albany Post on the west coast of James Bay (JBC); the Plains Cree examples (which are my own) represent the central Saskatchewan dialect heard on the Atāhkakohp, Mistawāsis and Pitihkwahākēw reserves.

Sounds

The \underline{l} which appears in the following James Bay words corresponds to a \underline{y} in Plains Cree:

JBC <u>kikiskēlimitin</u>

'I know you' (p.38)

JBC <u>nīla</u>

'me' (p.38)

JBC <u>milopaliliw</u>

'it (obviative) is going well' (p.62)

PC kikiskeyimitin

PC niya¹

PC <u>miyopayiyiw</u>

These words sound different, but they have the same meaning.

Words

There are many words in <u>Spoken Cree</u> which are different from Plains Cree; for example, the greeting for James Bay Cree is,

wāciyē

'hello, goodbye' (p.38).

In Plains Cree this word is not used for greeting, and there is also no common word for the two meanings of JBC \underline{waciye} . Instead, for greeting, Plains Cree uses

¹ Note the short \underline{i} written before the \underline{y} ; for the spelling conventions used here see Ahenakew 1984:Appendix.

<u>tānisi</u>

'hello',

and farewell could be either

<u>ēkosi māka</u>

'so long'

or

ka-wapamitin

'see you!'

<u>ka-wāpamitināwāw</u>

'see you (all)!'

In a similar way, the expressions used for thanking someone are entirely different in the two dialects. Where James Bay Cree has a particle,

<u>mīkwēc</u>

'thank you' (p.140),

Plains Cree has a verb form:

kitatamihin

'thank you'

(literally, 'you make me glad')

<u>kitatamihināwāw</u>

'thank you (all)'

A number of other particles, e.g.,

JBC <u>mošak</u> 'always' : PC <u>kākikē</u>

JBC <u>pēšoc</u> 'near to' : PC <u>cīki</u>

are also different, and the two dialects do not even use the same words for the coordinating particle 'and, also, too',

JBC <u>nēšta</u>: PC <u>mīna</u>

or for the question particle, 2

JBC $\underline{n}\bar{a}$: PC $\underline{c}\bar{i}$.

A list of everyday expressions that differ would be quite long; for example,

JBC <u>šānkw-ahtay</u>

'nine dollars' (p.260)

PC <u>kēkā-mitātaht-nēwopēhikan</u>

JBC <u>mahkiy</u>

'tent' (p.110)

PC papakiwayanikamik

The question particle <u>nā</u> and a verb form <u>ka-wāciyēmitin</u> (built on <u>wāciyē</u>) have also been heard as far west as James Smith Reserve, Saskatchewan.

JBC <u>šwāp</u>
'store' (p.110)

PC <u>atāwēwikamik</u>

JBC <u>natohkolon</u> (NA)
'doctor' (p.75)

PC <u>maskihkīwiyiniw</u>

These are words for things introduced by Europeans, and $\underline{\check{s}wap}$ is a loan-word based on English \underline{shop} . But words with more traditional meanings may also be completely different:

JBC natohkolon (NI)
 'medicine' (p.75)

PC <u>maskihkiy</u>

JBC mawapiw
'he is visiting' (p.676)

PC <u>kiyokew</u>

These are just a few examples of the many words that differ from one dialect to another.

Sentences

There are also many James Bay Cree sentences which consist of familiar words but are grammatically different from Plains Cree; for example,

JBC <u>ayaw masinahikan</u>iliw

'he has a book' (p.106);

the Plains Cree counterpart of this sentence is,

PC ayaw masinahikan.

Another example of the same grammatical structure is:

JBC <u>nimīlāw cīmān</u>iliw

'I give him a canoe' (p.284)

PC <u>nimiyāw cīmān</u>

Ignoring the sound differences, we still see a major difference between

JBC <u>masinahikan</u>iliw

JBC <u>cīmān</u>iliw,

which have a special ending, and

PC masinahikan

PC ciman,

which do not.

In other words, Plains Cree does not distinguish proximate and obviative forms for inanimate nouns.

Meanings

Discrepancies in meaning are often the most troublesome aspect of dialect differences, especially when the words <u>sound</u> exactly the same:

<u>sīhkaciw</u>

JBC 'he is cold' (p.692)

PC 'he is skinny'

<u>āhtakwēw</u>

JBC 'he moves camp' (p.153)

PC 'he moves his snares'

(cf. PC <u>āhtokēw</u> 'he moves camp')

Sometimes the two meanings are clearly related, e.g.,

nawacīw

JBC 'he takes a quick snack,
 stops for lunch (en route)' (p.681)

PC 'he cooks (it) in the oven'

But sometimes they are not. The next is the most outrageous example; it is also from Ellis (1983:110):

matew nikosis šwapihk anohc.

In James Bay Cree this sentence means

'my son is not in the store';

in Plains Cree, that same meaning is expressed by a completely different sentence:

moy ayaw atawewikamikohk nikosis anohc.

Aside from word-order, these two sentences differ in two places. The first is the difference between

JBC <u>šwāpihk</u>

'store'

and

PC <u>atāwēwikamikohk</u>

which has already been mentioned in the discussion of word discrepancies.³

The second difference between these two sentences is the reason why Ellis's example may be offensive to some Plains Cree readers.

Where Plains Cree has

moy ayaw,

³ The difference between the locative endings is due to the fact that the word <u>atawewikamik</u> is based on a stem that ends in -w, as in the plural form, <u>atawewikamikwa</u> 'stores'. When the stem <u>atawewikamikwa</u> is followed by the locative ending <u>-ihk</u>, the <u>-w</u> and the <u>-i</u> merge to make <u>-o</u>.

James Bay Cree has

matew.

To a Plains Cree reader or listener, this James Bay Cree form does not mean 'he isn't there'; instead, it sounds exactly like the Plains Cree word

matēw

which denotes sexual intercourse. In short, to a Plains Cree speaker, a harmless James Bay Cree sentence suggests rather unexpected activities in the store.

Ellis is the innocent victim of dialect differences in Cree, just like the speaker of British English who asks her Canadian landlord "to knock her up for breakfast". All languages have dialect differences -- and dialect differences do cause problems in teaching!

<u>Style</u>

Another problem that teachers and students need to be aware of is style. It is perfectly understandable to say in Cree

maskisina postiskam

'he puts shoes on'

but it is not very elegant. A fluent Cree speaker would not normally use this phrase except in a very specific situation:

(a) a child puts an adult's shoes on;

(b) when you want to specify that it is someone else's shoes, e.g.,

ki<u>maskisina postiskam</u>

'he puts your shoes on'.

For an ordinary situation, Cree speakers use

postaskisinēw

which includes a root

post-

(which is the same as that in postiskam) and the noun-like element

<u>-askisin-</u>

which has the same meaning but not quite the same form as

maskisin

'shoe'.

The above example illustrates the difference between NORMAL style and SPECIAL PURPOSE style. In a normal context,

maskisina postiskam

would sound odd and might earn a quip, "Does he usually go barefoot?"

There is also a distinction between normal, everyday style and ELEVATED style. In one short Plains Cree story, for example, the narrator uses five verbs that incorporate the morpheme <u>-awaso-</u> 'child':⁴

kiskinahamawasowihtamawasokakeskimawasopimacihawasoohpikinawaso-

The meaning of each of these <u>-awaso-</u> words can also be expressed by a combination of a verb and a noun; for example, 5

<u>ē-kī-kiskinahamāwasocik</u>

'they taught their children' (2-3)

<u>e-kī-kiskinahamawāt</u> otawāsimisa

'he taught his children' (2-4)

In the first example, the single verb incorporates the morpheme $-\bar{a}waso-$ 'child'; in the second, the verb is followed by the possessed noun form otawāsimisa 'his children'.

⁴ This morpheme has a slightly different form (note the vowel lengths!) from the noun <u>awasis</u>, but it has the same meaning.

⁵ These examples are from Ahenakew 1984; the number which follows each example from these texts refers to the story and paragraph.

These two parallel expressions are both very common in Cree; but the first is more elevated: it is more likely to be used in story-telling or preaching than in casual conversation. When a text uses several such words one after another, it creates the impression of formality — it uses formal style.

This effect is increased when the speaker varies the words used for a particular action. In this case, the topic is elders trying to influence the young, and the narrator uses three different near-synonyms,

kiskinahamawaso-

'teach one's children',

wīhtamāwaso-

'tell one's children',

kakēskimāwaso-

'counsel one's children'

to talk about this subject.

Different levels of speech are found in all languages. The English sentences which follow would be used in very different situations; they represent two extreme styles:

I should be grateful for any assistance you may be able to render.

<u>Help!</u>

It is important for teachers and students to be aware of the style that is being taught.

Reliability

A language student would have a hard time telling the difference between "high" and "low" style in a language in which he/she can barely say

I am hungry.

The student also cannot tell whether the sentences in the textbook are idiomatic or not. It is not enough for a sentence to consist of Cree words and to have the right prefixes and suffixes: the words also have to be connected in the proper way.

Some sentences may be grammatically correct and still unidiomatic, e.g.,

napew atimwa wapamew.

Each word in this sentence (which is from Wolfart & Carroll 1981:26) is a correct Cree word, and any Cree speaker would understand what it means. But it seems very unlikely that a Cree speaker would ever utter such a sentence (unless he wanted to talk about any old man seeing any old dog).

In normal Cree, this sentence would at least have to include a demonstrative pronoun such as \underline{ana} 'that', as in

ana nāpēw atimwa wāpamēw.

'That man sees the dog.'

or even a discourse particle such as ekwa 'now',

nāpēw ēkwa wāpamēw atimwa.

'The man sees the dog now.'

At least now the sentence sounds almost normal.

Many sentences found in books about Cree are not even syntactically well-formed. In their discussion of the conjunct mode, Wolfart & Carroll (1981:75) use an example which again has the proper endings but is syntactically odd:

mēkwā ē-pimohtēt, ispatināw wāpahtam.

'While he walked, he saw a hill.'

In normal Cree, the <u>mēkwā</u> would have to be included in the verb complex:

ē-mēkwā-pimohtēt, ispatināw wāpahtam.

The only possible way in which the same meaning would be expressed in a separate word, could be by the particle mekwac:6

⁶ Perhaps the mēkwā is, in fact, a typographical error for mēkwāc.

mēkwāc ē-pimohtēt, ispatināw wāpahtam.

It is only one sound that distinguishes mēkwā from mēkwāc, but it makes a lot of difference.

Many sentences which sound odd in isolation might go unnoticed when they occur in connected discourse. This is another argument for using texts.

TEACHERS

The problems we have discussed are obvious to any speaker of the language, but the solutions are not. To figure out what is wrong with a sentence requires some technical knowledge of how languages work.

Many people seem to have the notion that just because you are a fluent speaker of a language you ought to be able to teach it, too. This idea is simply preposterous; still, it is an assumption that is often made when it comes to hiring Indian teachers. I wonder how many school boards would let their English or French courses be taught by someone without years of special training. Fluency, in any language, is just not enough.

TEXTBOOKS

The only set of Plains Cree lessons generally available in print is the book of Mary Edwards, Cree: an intensive language course. This textbook, which was first published in 1954, also has sentences which are quite unidiomatic; for example,

itwewak, "niwisakevihtenan nicihcinana".
'They said their hands hurt.' (p.37)

This sentence would sound better if the itwewak 'they say' followed the direct quotation, "niwīsakēyihtēnān nicihcīnāna" '"our hands hurt"'.

Two reasons why many of the sentences in this book sound odd may well be that, first, they were English sentences translated into Cree or, second, that they are isolated sentences.

The first is a weakness common to many books about Cree, and the second is a fundamental problem shared by all second language textbooks. But the major problem with the Mary Edwards book has nothing to do with phonology, morphology or syntax. It is the content of many of her example sentences.

Even sentences which to some users of the book may seem harmless can be disturbing to others. For instance:

māka namoya wīhkāc kīspowak.

'But they never have enough to eat.' (p.33)

-- does this mean that they [the women, as opposed to the men] are gluttons, or that they are so deprived that there is never any food?

Many other sentences and dialogues are much more explicit; many lessons, for example, are full of sentences dealing with the bad effects of alcohol:

ēkāwiya kiya kisiwāsi!

'Don't you get angry!'

ēkāwiya kīskwēpē, ayamihā!

'Don't get drunk, pray!' (p.25)

niwīkimākan kī-kisiwāsiw.

'My wife was angry.'

kī-kīskwēpēw cī?

'Was he/she drunk?' (p.24)

<u>kī-kīskwēpēwak cī?</u>

'Were they drunk?'

ēha, ēkosi āhkosiwak.

'Yes, and now they are sick.' (p.37)

All of the following examples are from a single page (p.82):

kī-pakamahwēw owīkimākana tipiskohk.

'He hit his wife last night.'

kīhtwām kī-kīskwēpēw.

'He was drunk again.'

kīskwēpēskiw.

'He is always drunk.'

namoya kita-kī-poni-kīskwepew.

'He can't stop getting drunk.'

Alcoholism is, of course, a fact of life but were these the only sentences available to illustrate the grammatical patterns of Cree? There are many positive aspects of reserve life that could be used in grammatical drills -- rather than perpetuating the stereotype image of "the drunken Indian".

When a revision of the Edwards book was being prepared by Ida McLeod, herself an experienced Cree teacher and a speaker of Plains Cree, she was not allowed to change any of the example sentences. The only corrections she was permitted to make were in the area of orthography, grammar and style.

Even the two revised editions published by Ida McLeod (1979, 1982) still require further revisions, especially in the area of sentence structure and style. In view of the restrictions on changes in the content, however, what point is there in working on the linguistic aspects of this book?

No book is perfect, as we all know, but this is a serious problem for a textbook. Ideally, as Ida McLeod has urged many times, the next Cree textbook ought to be written by Cree speakers.

A TEXT-BASED APPROACH

Many of the problems we have discussed can be avoided if teaching materials are based on \underline{real} Cree.

But where do you find that? As previously mentioned, there are no suitable readers for the <u>y</u>-dialect; therefore, the responsibility is on Cree speakers to develop appropriate teaching materials.

There are two ways in which we can do this. The first is for fluent Cree speakers to develop dialogues on various themes such as family life and community activities. The speakers would use spontaneous, everyday Cree for such dialogues to make them sound completely natural. The other alternative is to prepare classroom materials based on running texts.

This thesis explores the second option: the use of texts in Cree language teaching.

The first advantage of texts is that students at any level can learn to recognize affixes, words and phrases in their natural context. But there are other reasons for using traditional texts rather than specially constructed dialogues or stories. Texts are

literary works with a form of their own. In addition, the content of such texts offers valuable insights into Cree life, traditional and contemporary.

Most Cree teachers are, of course, familiar with Cree literature but very few of them have much experience in the use of texts for language teaching. In this thesis, therefore, I will present a series of comments on language teaching to go with a collection of Plains Cree texts from Saskatchewan which have been prepared for teachers and students: wāskahikaniwiyiniw-ācimowina.

NOUN INFLECTION

Words do not always have the same form. The noun stem <u>awasis-</u>, for example, may either appear as

<u>awāsis</u>

'child'

or as

awāsisak

'children'.

The first form, which has no special ending, is called SINGULAR; the second form, with the ending -ak, is called PLURAL.

This chapter looks at the various forms in which nouns may appear.

INFLECTIONAL DISTINCTIONS

Noun inflections show a number of distinctions which together connect the noun to the other parts (nouns or verbs) of the sentence.

Gender

Nouns in Cree fall into two classes: ANIMATE and INANIMATE.

These two classes have different plural endings:

pēyak awāsis (animate)

'one child'

nīso awāsisak

'two children'

pēyak maskisin (inanimate)

'one shoe'

nīso maskisina

'two shoes'

The plural ending -ak is used with the animate stem awasis-, and the plural ending -a with the inanimate stem maskisin-. Knowing the plural of a noun is the easiest way of telling whether it is animate or inanimate.

The distinction between animate and inanimate nouns is called GENDER. This is a <u>grammatical</u> term which indicates that the two sets of nouns take different plural endings.

The two GENDER CLASSES also each have their own set of pronouns, for example,

```
awa <u>awāsis</u> (animate)
             'this child'
             ōki <u>awāsis</u>ak
             'these children'
             ōma <u>maskisin</u> (inanimate)
             'this shoe'
             ōhi maskisina
             'these shoes'
These same two sets of pronouns are also used in full sentences:
             <u>awāsis awa.</u> (animate)
             'This is a child.'
            maskisin oma. (inanimate)
             'This is a shoe.'
       Animate and inanimate nouns also agree with different verbs,
            niwāpamāw awāsis. (animate)
             'I see a child.'
            <u>niwāpahtēn maskisin</u>. (inanimate)
            'I see a shoe.'
```

e.g.,

The two gender classes play an important role in the inflection of nouns, pronouns and verbs.

The animate class covers nouns for all living creatures. This group also includes such objects as rings, pants, stockings, stoves, pots, flour and stones. Since such things seem lifeless to speakers of English, animate nouns for such items create confusion in the classroom. Students always want to know why a particular noun is animate. Among articles of clothing, for example, they want to know why asikan— is animate and astotin— is inanimate:

asikan (animate)
'sock, stocking'

asikanak

'socks, stockings'

<u>astotin</u> (inanimate)

'hat, cap'

<u>astotin</u>a

'hats, caps'

There is no easy answer to the question of why such nouns are animate; they simply are animate in the mind of the Cree speaker, and the evidence for this fact is obvious in the grammar:

-- the plural ending <u>-ak</u>,

<u>asikan</u>ak

'socks, stockings';

- -- the use of the pronoun awa_asikan
 'this sock';
- -- the use of the verb stem wapam-,

 niwapamaw asikan.

 'I see a sock.'

Rather than look for reasons, students will simply have to memorize such nouns.

Number

In our discussion of gender (animate and inanimate), we already mentioned another distinction: nouns are either SINGULAR or PLURAL.

This distinction of NUMBER is most obvious when words like 'one' or 'two' are used with the noun, e.g.,

pēyak ayīkis

'one frog'

nīso ayīkisak;

'two frogs'

but you can just as easily say

ayīkis

'a frog'

to refer to a single frog, and

<u>ayîkis</u>ak

'frogs'

to refer to more than one.

The singular forms for both animate and inanimate stems have no special endings:

<u>awāsis</u> NA

'a child'

ayīkis NA

'a frog'

asikan NA

'a sock, a stocking'

maskisin NI

'a shoe'

astotin NI

'a cap, a hat'

In the plural, on the other hand, animate stems have the ending -ak, and inanimate stems have the ending -a:

<u>awāsis</u>ak NA

'children'

ayīkisak NA

'frogs'

<u>asikan</u>ak NA

'socks, stockings'

maskisina NI

'shoes'

astotina NI

'caps, hats'

The number distinction is also found in pronouns and verbs.

<u>Obviative</u>

In a sentence with two animate nouns we find another inflectional distinction:

ana awasis kī-wapamew ayīkisa.

'That child saw a frog/frogs.'

The noun form <u>awāsis</u> is exactly as illustrated before, but the noun form <u>ayīkis</u>a has the ending <u>-a</u> which sets it apart from the other nouns in the same sentence. The <u>-a</u> form of the animate noun is called the OBVIATIVE. In this form, there is no number distinction: <u>ayīkisa</u> could mean either 'a frog' or 'frogs'.

Locative

Another common noun form is the LOCATIVE which indicates location. The locative suffix is -ihk, e.g.,

asikan NA

'a sock, a stocking'

asikanihk LOC

'in a sock, in a stocking'

astotin NI

'a cap, a hat'

astotinihk LOC

'in, on a cap, in a hat'

As these examples show, the ending -ihk is used with both animate and inanimate noun stems.

The locative ending -ihk is not used with nouns for humans and animals. Instead, such nouns have a special locative ending $-in\bar{a}hk$ which means 'amongst the ___', e.g.,

kihci-mohkoman NA

'an American'

kihci-mohkomaninahk

'in the United States'.

PARADIGM TABLES

A set of inflected forms based on a single stem is called a PARADIGM. The two tables which follow show the noun paradigms (as used by the writer):

	ANIMATE
3	<u>asikan</u>
3p	<u>asikan</u> ak
3'	<u>asikan</u> a
LOC	<u>asikan</u> ihk

	INANIMATE
0	astotin
q0	<u>astotin</u> a
LOC	<u>astotin</u> ihk

Note that inanimate nouns do not mark the obviative.

Complete paradigms are difficult to find in a small set of texts. As the following examples show, all the noun endings occur in the texts, but with a variety of stems:

	ANIMATE
3	piyēsīs
3p	okimāsisak
3'	īwahikana
LOC	asiskīwikocawānāpiskosihk
	·

	INANIMATE
0	ācimowinis
0 p	mīciwina
LOC	maskimotihk

STEM SHAPES

Most Cree nouns are inflected like the examples which we have given already. But some nouns are different and need to be discussed separately.

All the examples which we have used so far are stems that end in a single consonant; e.g.,

<u>awāsi</u>s-

<u>maskisi</u>n-

In these cases, the noun stem is always the same, whether it is singular, plural, obviative or locative.

There are also common types of stems where the shape of the stem varies before the different endings.

Cw-stems

If you look at the singular and plural endings of the word for 'dog',

atim

'a dog'

<u>atimw</u>ak

'dogs'

you see that there is a $\underline{-w-}$ before the plural ending $\underline{-ak}$. This $\underline{-w-}$ drops in the singular but shows up when the other inflectional endings are added.

When a stem ending in a consonant followed by $\underline{-w}$ takes the locative suffix $\underline{-ihk}$, the final $\underline{-w}$ of the stem and the initial $\underline{-i}$ of the endings merge to $\underline{-o}$; for example:

pahkekin

'a tanned hide'

<u>pahkēkinwa</u>

'tanned hides'

pahkekinohk

'on the tanned hide'

mistik

'a tree'

<u>mistikwak</u>

'trees'

$\underline{\mathtt{mistikohk}}$

'on a tree'

There are many text examples of these \underline{Cw} -stems:

	ANIMATE
3	kinēpik
3p	wāposwak
3'	paskwāwimostoswa
LOC	

INANIMATE

0 āhkosīwikamik

0p pahkēkinwa

LOC kipahotowikamikohk

Vw- and Vy-stems

Noun stems which end in one of the semi-vowels (\underline{w} or \underline{y}) preceded by a vowel show no complications in the singular, plural, or obviative; for example, with the stems $\underline{kiseyiniw}$ NA 'old man, elder' or $\underline{akwaminakasiy}$ NA 'thorn bush':

<u>kisēyiniw</u>

<u>kisēyiniwak</u>

<u>kisēyiniwa</u>

<u>akwāminakasiy</u>

akwāminakasiyak

<u>akwāminakasiya</u>

But in the locative there is a vowel adjustment at the morpheme boundary which occurs between the stem and the ending. Instead of simply adding the ending -ihk, the final semivowel of the stem and the initial -i- of the ending -ihk drop, and the preceding vowel is lengthened. For example,

<u>ōtēnaw</u>

'a town'

ōtēnāhk

'in town'

where the stem-final $\underline{-aw-}$ and the initial $\underline{-i-}$ of the ending $\underline{-ihk}$ result in $\underline{-\bar{a}-}$:

[<u>otēn</u>aw+i<u>hk</u>]

<u>ōtēnāhk</u>.

The same rule applies with -Vy+i-, e.g.,

[<u>niskotāk</u>ay+i<u>hk</u>]

niskotākāhk

'on my coat'

[sīpiy+ihk]

<u>sīpīhk</u>

'in the river'

[mīcimāpoy+ihk]

<u>mīcimāpōhk</u>

'in the soup'.

When the vowel that precedes the semivowel is long, it simply stays, e.g.,

[sakāw+ihk]

<u>sakāhk</u>

'in the bush'.

Text examples:

	ANIMATE -Vw-	-vy-
3	kihc-õkimāw	
3p	pihēwak	ahtayak
3'	sōniyāwa	
LOC		-

	INANIMATE -Vw-	-vy-
0	ōtēnaw	nipiy
0p		maskihkiya
LOC		sīpīhk

<u>Single-syllable stems</u>

There are a few nouns which have a singular ending in $\underline{-a}$ or $\underline{-i}$. Those with a singular ending in $\underline{-a}$ are animate nouns such as $\underline{k\bar{o}na}$ 'snow' or $\underline{m\bar{o}swa}$ 'moose', and those with an $\underline{-i}$ are inanimate nouns such as \underline{mihti} 'firewood' or $\underline{w\bar{a}ti}$ 'hole'.

The paradigm of 'firewood' shows that the stem is \underline{miht} and the endings are $\underline{-i}$, $\underline{-a}$ and $\underline{-ihk}$:

	INANIMATE
0	<u>miht</u> +i
q0	<u>miht</u> +a
LOC	miht+ihk

With animate nouns like $k\bar{o}na$, the singular and the obviative sound exactly the same:

	ANIMATE
3	<u>kõn</u> a
3p	7
3'	<u>kōn</u> a
LOC	<u>kōn</u> ihk

The singular endings -a and -i only occur with stems like $k\bar{o}n-$ and miht- which consist of a single syllable.

Some of these single-syllable stems actually end in $\underline{-Cw-}$, e.g.,

 $^{^{7}}$ $\underline{k\bar{o}na}$ is a collective noun and has no plural.

	ANIMATE
3	<u>mōsw</u> a
3p	<u>mōsw</u> ak
31	<u>mōsw</u> a
LOC	

In the case of inanimate single-syllable stems in $\underline{-Cw-}$, the stem-final $\underline{-w-}$ and the ending $\underline{-i}$ merge to $\underline{-o-}$:

mihko

'blood'

This is the same merging rule as that used with all other $\underline{-Cw-}$ noun stems, e.g.,

pahkēkinohk

mistikohk

and now also

mihkohk

'in the blood'.

Single-syllable stems are sometimes expanded into COMPOUND STEMS, e.g.,

<u>wāti</u>

'hole, den'

<u>mahīhkani-wāti</u>

'wolf-den'

As this example shows, such compound nouns, if inanimate, keep the singular ending -i; that is, they still behave like single-syllable stems. Another example of compounds with a single-syllable stem are those built on the stem \underline{ay} , for example, the animate noun $\underline{k\bar{e}ht\bar{e}}$ - \underline{ay} -'old person, elder':

	ANIMATE
3	<u>kēhtē-ay</u> a
3p	<u>kēhtē-ay</u> ak
3'	<u>kēhtē-ay</u> a
LOC	

Just as with $k\bar{o}na$, there is no sound difference between the singular $k\bar{e}ht\bar{e}-aya$ and the obviative $k\bar{e}ht\bar{e}-aya$.

Text examples:

	ANIMATE
3	kōna
3p	kēhtē-ayak
3'	mōswa
LOC	

	INANIMATE	
0	mahīhkani-wāti	
q0	mihta	
LOC		

The single-syllable stems are the least common type of noun stems, but several stems of this type, like those occurring in the texts, are very common.

ADDRESS FORMS

There is a special form of the noun which is used when addressing someone directly, e.g.,

nēkā!

'mother!'

This form is mainly used with kinship terms.

In the singular, the address forms are quite irregular, e.g.,

<u>nikāwiy</u>

'my mother'

<u>nêkā!</u>

'mother!'

The text examples illustrate both the singular and plural address forms of

<u>nitikwatim</u>

'my nephew'

and

<u>nōsisim</u>

'my grandchild':

	ANIMATE
sg	<u>nitihkwā!</u>
pl	<u>nōsisimitik!</u>

POSSESSION

All the kinship terms used as examples of address forms start with an \underline{n} , and in the English translations the possessive pronoun 'my' is either explicit or understood. The noun form

ni<u>mis</u>

'my older sister',

for example, consists of a personal prefix $\underline{\text{ni-}}$ and the stem $\underline{-\text{mis-}}$ 'older sister'.

The stem $\underline{-\text{mis-}}$ always takes a prefix; you cannot say $\underline{-\text{mis-}}$ by itself. Such stems are called DEPENDENT STEMS.

All the other noun stems that we have discussed in this chapter are INDEPENDENT STEMS. They \underline{need} not take a personal prefix, but most of them may, e.g.,

<u>asikan</u>

'a sock, a stocking'

nit<u>asikan</u>

'my sock, my stocking'

Dependent nouns

Most dependent nouns are kinship terms and words for body parts or pieces of clothing, e.g.,

nohkom NA

'my grandmother'

nistikwan NI

'my head'

nitās NA

'my pants'

As these examples show, dependent stems can be either animate or inanimate, and we use the abbreviations NDA and NDI.

The person categories which function as possessors are the same as the persons which are used in verb inflection, e.g.,

nimohkoman NI

'my knife'

ninipan VAI

'I sleep'

They are also marked by almost the same prefixes and suffixes:

1	<u>ni-</u>		
2	<u>ki-</u>		
1p	<u>ni-</u>	<u>-inān-</u>	
21p	<u>ki-</u>	<u>-inaw-</u>	
2p	<u>ki-</u>	<u>-iwāw-</u>	
3	<u>o-</u>		
3p	<u>o-</u>	<u>-iwāw-</u>	
3'	<u>o-</u>	<u>-iyiw-</u>	

For example:

	NDA
1	ni <u>mis</u>
2	ki <u>mis</u>
1p	ni <u>mis</u> inān
21p	ki <u>mis</u> inaw
2p	ki <u>mis</u> iwāw
3	o <u>mis</u> a
3p	o <u>mis</u> iwāwa
3'	o <u>mis</u> iyiwa

The numbers at the left are shorthand for the person categories. In the English translations, $\underline{h}\underline{e}$ stands for both 'he' and 'she'.

	CATEGORY	STANDARD TRANSLATION
1	first singular	' I '
2	second singular	'you (sg)'
1p	first plural (exclusive)	'we (excl)'
21p	first-and-second plural (inclusive)	'we (incl)'
2p	second plural	'you (pl)'
3	third singular	'he'
3p	third plural	'they'
3'	third obviative	'he/they (obv)'

The forms for the third person possessor end in -a. This -a ending marks the noun as obviative. In the phrase,

ana iskwew kī-wāpamew omisa.

'That woman saw her older sister/sisters.'8

<u>ana iskwew</u> 'that woman' is the central figure; she is "the possessor" or "in focus" and the 'older sister/sisters' is the <u>other</u> third person which is "the possessed" or "out of focus" -- that is, obviative.

With a third person possessor, the noun itself is <u>always</u> obviative. When the possessor is a first or second person, the noun itself can be singular, plural or obviative:

nikī-wāpamāw nimis.

'I saw my older sister.'

nikī-wāpamāwak nimisak.

'I saw my older sisters.'

ana iskwew ki-wapamew nimisa.

'That woman saw my elder sister/sisters.'

This last example has two third persons, 'that woman' and 'my elder sister/sisters', and the obviative noun is marked by the ending -a: nimisa.

⁸ The obviative form has no number distinction.

Paradigm table:

			*
-	NDA singular	plural	obviative
1	ni <u>mis</u>	ni <u>mis</u> ak	ni <u>mis</u> a
2	ki <u>mis</u>	ki <u>mis</u> ak	ki <u>mis</u> a
1p	ni <u>mis</u> inān	ni <u>mis</u> inānak	ni <u>mis</u> ināna
21p	ki <u>mis</u> inaw	ki <u>mis</u> inawak	ki <u>mis</u> inawa
2p	ki <u>mis</u> iwāw	ki <u>mis</u> iwāwak	ki <u>mis</u> iwāwak
3			o <u>mis</u> a
3p			o <u>mis</u> iwāwa
3 *			o <u>mis</u> iyiwa

Text examples:

	NDA singular	plural	obviative
1	nōsisim		
2			
1p		nitōtēminānak	
21p		kõsisiminawak	kitawāsimisinawa
2p		dan can can	
3			omisa
3p			otēmiwāwa
3'			
	·		

With dependent noun stems in $\underline{-Cw-}$, the stem-final $\underline{-w-}$ and the initial $\underline{-i-}$ of the suffixes combine to make $\underline{-o-}$; for example,

ni<u>skīsikw</u>a

'my eyes'

<u>-skīsikw-</u> NDI

'eye'

[niskīsikw+ināna]
niskīsikonāna
'our (excl) eyes'.

Similarly, stems in $\underline{-Vw-}$ or $\underline{-Vy-}$ have the same rule as with the locative $\underline{-ihk}$, e.g.,

niskotākay NDI
'my coat'

[<u>kiskotāk</u>ay+i<u>nawa</u>] <u>kiskotākānawa</u>

'our (incl) coats'.

Dependent noun stems which are inanimate have exactly the same inflections as independent nouns: no ending in the singular (except with single-syllable stems such as $-\bar{\imath}k-:$ $n\bar{\imath}ki$ 'my home'), and -a in the plural. Inanimate dependent nouns do not mark the obviative.

	NDI singular	plural	locative
1	ni <u>stikwān</u>	ni <u>stikwān</u> a	ni <u>stikwān</u> ihk
2	ki <u>stikwān</u>	ki <u>stikwān</u> a	ki <u>stikwān</u> ihk
1p	ni <u>stikwān</u> inān	ni <u>stikwān</u> ināna	ni <u>stikwān</u> ināhk
21p	ki <u>stikwān</u> inaw	ki <u>stikwān</u> inawa	ki <u>stikwān</u> ināhk
2p	ki <u>stikwān</u> iwāw	ki <u>stikwān</u> iwāwa	ki <u>stikwān</u> iwāhk
3	o <u>stikwān</u>	o <u>stikwān</u> a	o <u>stikwān</u> ihk
3p	o <u>stikwān</u> iwāw	o <u>stikwān</u> iwāwa	o <u>stikwān</u> iwāhk
3'	o <u>stikwān</u> iyiw	o <u>stikwān</u> iyiwa	o <u>stikwān</u> iyihk

Note that in several of the locative forms, 9 the final $\underline{-Vw-}$ sequence of the person suffixes for plural persons combines with the $\underline{-i-}$ of the locative suffix; for example,

[kistikwāniwāw+ihk]
kistikwāniwāhk.

The exception is the 1p-form <u>nistikwānināhk</u> which is not built on the 1p-suffix <u>-inān-</u> followed by the locative suffix <u>-ihk;</u> instead, it simply takes over the regular <u>-ināhk</u> sequence of the 21p-form.

Text examples:

	NDI singular	plural	locative
1	nistikwān		nīkihk
2			
1p			
21p			
2p			
3		ocōskwanisa	
3p	wīkiwāw	oskotākāwāwa	
3'			wīkiyihk

Some of the dependent nouns take a prefix $\underline{mi-}$ when there is no specific posessor, e.g.,

nitās NDA

'my pants'

<u>otāsa</u>

'his/her pants'

<u>mitās</u>

'pants, a pair of pants'

This form may also be plural or obviative, e.g.,

<u>nīsw-āya mitāsak</u>

'two pairs of pants'

ana iskwew kī-wapamew e-mihkosiyit mitasa.

'That woman saw a pair of red pants.'

The mi- prefix is also used with inanimate dependent nouns, e.g.,

niskotākay NDI

'my coat'

<u>oskotākay</u>

'his coat'

miskotākay

'a coat'

Finally, dependent stems that begin in a vowel take a shortened version of the personal prefixes, e.g.,

nimis NDA

'my elder sister'

naniway NDI

'my cheek'

n<u>osisim</u> NDA

'my grandchild'

When the stem begins in o-, the o- is lengthened after the personal prefix, e.g.,

<u>nōhkom</u> NDA

'my grandmother'

o<u>hkoma</u>

'his grandmother'

But you have to know the third person possessor form to be sure, because some $-\bar{o}$'s are always long, e.g.,

<u>nosisim</u> NDA

'my grandchild'

<u>osisima</u>

'his grandchild'

For dependent stems that begin in a vowel other than -o, the third person prefix takes the shape -w, e.g.,

naniway NDI

'my cheek'

<u>waniway</u>

'his cheek'

<u>nīki</u>

'my home'

<u>wīki</u>

'his home'

In short, dependent noun stems are somewhat irregular.

Independent nouns

The possession paradigm of independent noun stems, on the other hand, is completely regular.

Even the shape of the personal prefixes can be predicted:

<u>ni-</u> / ____C

<u>nit-</u> / ____v

for example:

ni<u>mohkomān</u> NI

'my knife'

nit<u>asikan</u> NA

'my sock, my stocking'

o<u>mohkomān</u>

'his knife'

ot<u>asikana</u>

'his sock/socks'

When the personal prefixes are used with an independent stem beginning in $\underline{-o-}$, the stem initial $\underline{-o-}$ is lengthened, e.g.,

ospwākan NDA
'pipe'

nitospwākan
'my pipe'

Paradigm tables:

	NA singular	plural	obviative
1	nit <u>asikan</u>	nit <u>asikan</u> ak	nit <u>asikan</u> a
2	kit <u>asikan</u>	kit <u>asikan</u> ak	kit <u>asikan</u> a
1p	nit <u>asikan</u> inān	nit <u>asikan</u> inānak	nit <u>asikan</u> ināna
21p	kit <u>asikan</u> inaw	kit <u>asikan</u> inawak	kit <u>asikan</u> inawa
2p	kit <u>asikan</u> iwāw	kit <u>asikan</u> iwāwak	kit <u>asikan</u> iw a wa
3			ot <u>asikan</u> a
. 3			OCUSTRANA
3p			ot <u>asikan</u> iwāwa
3 '			ot <u>asikan</u> iyiwa
	and the second of the second o		

	NI singular	plural
1	ni <u>mōhkomān</u>	ni <u>mõhkomān</u> a
2	ki <u>mōhkomān</u>	ki <u>mōhkomān</u> a
1p	ni <u>mōhkomān</u> inān	ni <u>mõhkomān</u> ināna
21p	ki <u>mōhkomān</u> inaw	ki <u>mõhkomān</u> inawa
2p	ki <u>mōhkomān</u> iwāw	ki <u>mōhkomān</u> iwāwa
3	o <u>mōhkomān</u>	o <u>mõhkomān</u> a
3p	o <u>mohkoman</u> iwaw	o <u>mōhkomān</u> iwāwa
31	o <u>mōhkomān</u> iyiw	o <u>mōhkomān</u> iyiwa

Possessed animate nouns present only one complication: some nouns (but not all) have a special, EXTENDED stem when they are used with the personal prefixes and suffixes.

The extended stem is formed with a suffix $\underline{-im-}$, e.g.,

<u>sīsīp</u> NA

'duck'

<u>-sīsīpim-</u>

<u>nisīsīpim</u>

'my duck'

wiyās NI

'meat'

<u>-wiyāsim-</u>

niwiyāsim

'my meat'

With stems ending in $\underline{-Cw-}$, the final $\underline{-w-}$ of the stem and the initial $\underline{-i-}$ of the suffix $\underline{-im-}$ combine to $\underline{-o-}$, e.g.,

<u>wāpos</u> NA

'a rabbit'

<u>wāposw</u>ak

'rabbits'

niwāposom

'my rabbit'

Similarly, stems in $\underline{-Vw-}$ or $\underline{-Vy-}$ have the same rule as with the locative suffix $\underline{-ihk}$, e.g.,

okimāw NA

'chief, leader'

[okimāw+im]

nitōkimām

'my boss'

As this example shows, the extended stem in $\underline{-im-}$ often has a more specialized meaning.

Text examples:

NA singular	plural	obviative
nitōkimām		
	·	
	kikēhtē-ayiminawak	
		otōskinīkiskwēma
		otōkimāmiwāwa
	singular	singular plural nitōkimām

	NI singular	plural	locative
1	nimõhkomän	nimaskisina	nitasiwacikanihk
2		kicayānisisa	
1p		nipīkiskwēwininān	
21p		kipimācihowininaw	
2p			
3	onēhiyāwiwin		omīcisowinihk
3p	onēhiyāwiwiniwāw		
3'			

VERB INFLECTION

Similar to the possessed nouns, the verb has prefixes for the first and second person:

<u>ni</u>-

<u>ki</u>-

Where the noun has the prefix

<u>o-</u>

for the third person possessor, the verbs which we will discuss here have no such prefix. In this chapter, a ZERO, $\underline{\emptyset}$, is sometimes written to emphasize the absence of a third person prefix:

ni<u>nipān</u> 'I sleep'

ki<u>nipān</u> 'you sleep'

ønipāw 'he sleeps'

Remember again the possessed nouns,

ni<u>maskisin</u> 'my shoe'

nitasikan 'my sock, my stocking'

where \underline{ni} alternates with \underline{nit} :

the same thing happens with verbs:

ni<u>nipān</u> 'I sleep'

<u>nipāw</u> 'he sleeps'

nitastān 'I put (it)'

astāw 'he puts (it)'

The resemblance continues; \underline{ni} - and \underline{nit} - turn up under the same conditions as in nouns:

<u>ni</u>- / ____c

and

In other words, $\underline{\text{ni-}}$ is used with stems beginning in a consonant, like $\underline{\text{nipa-}}$ VAI 'sleep', and $\underline{\text{nit-}}$ is used with those beginning in a vowel, like $\underline{\text{asta-}}$ VAI 'put (it)'.

Sometimes the verb does not take $\underline{ni(t)}$ and $\underline{ki(t)}$ at all, as in the following example:

ni<u>nipān</u> 'I sleep' ē-<u>nipāyān</u> 'I am sleeping'.

There are, in fact, two whole sets of verb-forms: those which take $\underline{ni(t)}$ -, $\underline{ki(t)}$ - and $\underline{\phi}$ (zero), and those which use $\underline{\bar{e}}$ instead. There are several other morphemes like $\underline{\bar{e}}$ which are used instead of the

personal prefixes $\underline{ni(t)}$ -, $\underline{ki(t)}$ -, and $\underline{\phi}$ (zero); the most common ones are $\underline{k\bar{a}}$ and \underline{ka} , e.g.,

ē-<u>nipāyān</u> 'I am sleeping'

kā-<u>nipāyān</u> 'when I am sleeping'

ka-<u>nipāyān</u> 'for me to sleep'

This last form is awkward to translate unless it occurs in context, e.g.,

namoya nikaskihtan ka-nipayan.

'I can't sleep.'

This is just one example of the many difficulties which PREVERBS present in translation.

Verb forms with personal prefixes, like ninipan, are called INDEPENDENT; and those with preverbs, like e-nipayan, are called CONJUNCT. These are useful labels for talking about different sets of verb forms or MODES. All verbs come in these two categories, and you can always go from one to the other and back again:

ni<u>nipān</u> --> ē-nipāyān,

ni<u>nipān</u> <-- ē-<u>nipāyān</u>.

Along with the independent mode and the conjunct mode we get a third, the IMPERATIVE MODE:

nipā

'sleep!'

<u>nipāhkan</u>

'sleep later!'

pimihā

'fly!'

<u>pimihāhkan</u>

'fly later!'

Verb forms which belong to the imperative mode are commands. As you can see from the above examples, one of them says 'do it now' and the other, with the suffix -- hkan, commands you to 'do it later': "Fly now -- pay later." These two sub-modes of the imperative are called IMMEDIATE (abbreviated IMM) and DELAYED (DEL).

Now that we have touched on the three modes, we will look at all the various forms that can be built on a single verb stem; this is what we call a PARADIGM.

VAI VERBS

We start with stems like $\underline{\text{nipa-}}$ VAI 'sleep' which have $\underline{-\bar{\text{a-}}}$ as their last sound or STEM FINAL. (The abbreviation $\underline{\text{VAI}}$ will be explained at the end of this section.)

ā-<u>stems</u>

The following chart gives an independent and a conjunct form each for the stems $\underline{\text{nipa-}}$ 'sleep' and $\underline{\text{waniska-}}$ 'get up':

'sleep'	nipāw	<u>e-nipāyān</u>
'get up'	<u>waniskāw</u>	<u>ē-waniskāyān</u>
	hes	I aming

Now let's look at the layers around the stem and mark them off; the plus-sign marks the morpheme-boundary that is between the stem and the suffix -- in English as in Cree:

So far we have only dealt with the first and third person singular; we will now look at the full paradigm (as used by the writer).

The underlined part of the word is the STEM. The layers that are added to the stem are called AFFIXES; those which come <u>before</u> the stem are called PREFIXES, and those which come <u>after</u> the stem are called SUFFIXES.

	INDEPENDENT
1	ni <u>nipā</u> n
2	ki <u>nipā</u> n
1p	ni <u>nipā</u> nān
21p	ki <u>nipā</u> nānaw
2p	ki <u>nipā</u> nāwāw
3	<u>nipā</u> w
3p	<u>nipā</u> wak
3'	<u>nipā</u> yiwa

The numbers at the left are shorthand for the person categories. In the English translations, \underline{he} stands for both 'he' and 'she'.

	CATEGORY	STANDARD TRANSLATION
1	first singular	'I'
2	second singular	'you (sg)'
1p	first plural (exclusive)	'we (excl)'
21p	first-and-second plural (inclusive)	'we (incl)'
2p	second plural	'you (pl)'
3	third singular	'he'
3p	third plural	'they'
3'	third obviative	'he/they (obv)'

Note that in the paradigm above there is a natural division between 3 and non-3. The non-3 forms all have <u>prefixes</u> and the 3 forms do not. The same division also appears in the <u>suffixes</u>: the non-3 forms all start with an $\underline{-n-}$, and the 3 forms do not.

The conjunct paradigm which follows has no person prefix; instead, it has the preverb $\underline{\underline{e}}$ which is typical of the conjunct. But the suffixes are also clearly different from those of the independent paradigm.

CONJUNCT
ē- <u>nipā</u> yān
ē- <u>nipā</u> yan
ē- <u>nipā</u> yāhk
ē- <u>nipā</u> yahk
ē- <u>nipā</u> yēk
ē- <u>nipā</u> t
ē- <u>nipā</u> cik
ē- <u>nipā</u> yit

Imperative forms are only for second persons — you never give commands to yourself! But note that the <u>first-and-second plural</u> (<u>inclusive</u>) counts as a second person. Note also that the (immediate) imperative of the second person, <u>nipā</u> 'sleep!', is exactly the same as the stem.

	IMPERATIVE IMM	DEL
2	nipā	<u>nipā</u> hkan
21p	<u>nipā</u> tān	<u>nipā</u> hkahk
2p	<u>nipā</u> k	<u>nipā</u> hkēk

We will now survey the real verb forms found in the texts and record them in tables. Since there are only ten brief texts, we will, of course, not find examples for all possible forms of the paradigms. For some of the persons there are many examples but we will only list one.

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1	nikaskihtān	ē-isko-kaskihtāyān
2		
1p		ē-wāniskāyāhk
21p	kikaskihtānānaw	
2p		
3	āpacihtāw	ē-kī-ayāt
3p	ayāwak	ē-ayācik
3'		ē-ayāyit

There were no examples of the imperative for the $\bar{\underline{a}}$ -stems in the texts.

The reason why the $\bar{\underline{a}}$ -stems were presented first is that there are no special complications in their paradigm. But when you look at a number of $\bar{\underline{a}}$ -stem verbs, they are not all the same.

At first glance, the shape of the stems

waniskā-

and

astā-

seems identical, and you'll never know any different by looking at the paradigm tables. But if you see them in context, there is a major difference: waniska- never takes an object and asta- does; for example,

ēkwa kīkisēpā, kā-waniskācik, ...

'And in the morning, when they arose, ...' (3-5)

..., iyikohk ē-astāt maskihkiy nanātohk, ...

'..., he puts in so many chemicals of all kinds, ...' (4-7).

In this last sentence, the verb form $\underline{\bar{e}}$ -ast $\underline{\bar{a}}$ 'he puts (it) in' has the noun <u>maskihkiy</u> as object. Although <u>ast \bar{a} </u>- takes an object it behaves exactly like <u>wanisk \bar{a} </u> 'get up' when it comes to affixes: they fit into the same paradigm. There are other verbs in the texts which are like <u>ast \bar{a} </u>-, and students must be aware of them.

$\bar{e}/\bar{a}-\underline{stems}$

The following chart gives an independent and a conjunct form each of two $\bar{\underline{e}}/\bar{\underline{a}}$ -stems:

'walk'	pimohtēw	<u>ē-pimohtēyān</u>
'arrive'	takohtēw	<u>ē-takohtēyān</u>
	hes	I aming

Just as with the $\bar{\underline{a}}$ -stems, we isolate the stem and use a plus-sign to mark off the suffixes:

	INDEPENDENT	
1	ni <u>pimohtā</u> n	
2	ki <u>pimohtā</u> n	
1p	ni <u>pimohtā</u> nān	
21p	ki <u>pimohtā</u> nānaw	
2p	ki <u>pimohtā</u> nāwāw	
3	<u>pimohtē</u> w	
3p	<u>pimohtē</u> wak	
3'	<u>pimohtē</u> yiwa	

When we take a good look at the full paradigm we realize that there is a discrepancy in the stem: the first person form has an $-\bar{a}-$ before the suffix,

<u>nipimohtān</u>

but the third person form has an $-\bar{e}-$ in exactly the same spot,

pimohtēw.

These verbs have two stem alternants, in $-\bar{e}$ and in $-\bar{a}$.

This situation reminds me of the rabbit who wears a brown coat in the summer and a white coat in the winter. These two variants of the \bar{e}/\bar{a} -stem are exactly like the two coats of the rabbit: the stem wears the vowel $-\bar{a}$ - for the non-3 persons, and the $-\bar{e}$ - for third persons.

The two variants of our example stem are

pimohtā-

and

pimohte-,

and there is again a natural division between 3 and non-3: all non-3 forms have the stem variant

pimohtā-,

and all third-person forms have the stem variant

pimohte-.

But which of these two variants is the basic stem? What is the "real" colour of the bush-rabbit -- white or brown?

Before we can tackle this question, we have to go back and examine the method for isolating the stem in the first place. The method consists of two steps:

<u>first</u>, you look at the first person form in the independent mode and take off the prefix \underline{ni} and the suffix $\underline{-n}$;

 $\underline{\text{second}}$, you take off the $\underline{-\text{w}}$ in the third person form of the independent mode.

In the usual case, the two pieces that are left over will be the same:

ni<u>nipā</u>n

<u>nipā</u>w

nipā- 'to sleep'

ni<u>waniskā</u>n

<u>waniskā</u>w

waniskā- 'to get up'

But, as we have seen above, they are not always the same; with forms like

<u>nipimohtān</u>

<u>pimohtēw</u>

the two left-over pieces are

pimohtā-

pimohtē-

Which of the two is basic?

We choose the $\bar{\underline{e}}-$ alternant because, if we know the third person, we can always predict the first. From

<u>pimohtēw</u>

we can predict

<u>nipimohtān</u>

and from

<u>nipāw</u>

we can predict

ninipān.

But the other way around, we could never tell.

After dealing with the $\underline{\bar{e}}/\underline{\bar{a}}$ complication, we can now go back and look at the conjunct and imperative paradigms.

The conjunct of the $\underline{\bar{e}}/\underline{\bar{a}}-\text{stems}$ has the $\underline{\bar{e}}-\text{variant}$ for all persons:

	CONJUNCT	
1	ē- <u>pimohtē</u> yān	
2	ē- <u>pimohtē</u> yan	
1p	ē- <u>pimohtē</u> yāhk	
21p	ē- <u>pimohtē</u> yahk	
2p	ē- <u>pimohtē</u> yēk	
3	ē- <u>pimohtē</u> t	
3p	ē- <u>pimohtē</u> cik	
3'	ē- <u>pimohtē</u> yit	

The imperative also has only the $\bar{\underline{e}}$ -variant:

	IMPERATIVE IMM	DEL
2	<u>pimohtē</u>	<u>pimohtē</u> hkan
21p	<u>pimohtē</u> tān	<u>pimohtē</u> hkahk
2p	<u>pimohtē</u> k	<u>pimohtē</u> hkēk

The fact that neither the conjunct not the imperative have any forms with the $\underline{\bar{a}}$ -variant is an additional reason for taking the $\underline{\bar{e}}$ -variant of the stem as basic.

The following tables show the actual examples which appear in the texts:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1	niminihkwān	ē-wī-itwēyān
2	 -	
1p	nititwānān	ē-atoskēyāhk
21p	ka-nitawāpahkānānaw	
2p		
3	itwēw	ē-tāpwēt
3p		ē-nawaswēcik
3'		ē-pimohtēyit

	IMPERATIVE IMM	DEL
2	nācimihtē	444 444
21p		
2p	itwēk	

As you can see from the blanks, some forms have no examples at all. Others have many examples but we have shown only one. There are no further complications. The $\bar{\underline{e}}/\bar{\underline{a}}$ issue has already been discussed.

$\bar{i}-\underline{stems}$

The third group to be discussed is $\bar{\underline{\textbf{1}}}\text{-stems}$:

'flee'	tapasīw	<u>ē-tapasīyān</u>
'climb off'	<u>nīhtakosīw</u>	<u>ē-nīhtakosīyān</u>
	hes	I aming

Once again, we mark off the affixes:

Following are the full paradigms (as used by the writer):

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1	ni <u>tapasī</u> n	ē- <u>tapasī</u> yān
2	ki <u>tapasī</u> n	ē- <u>tapasī</u> yan
1p	ni <u>tapasī</u> nān	ē- <u>tapasī</u> yāhk
21p	ki <u>tapasī</u> nānaw	ē- <u>tapasī</u> yahk
2p	ki <u>tapasī</u> nāwāw	ē- <u>tapasī</u> yēk
3	<u>tapasī</u> w	ē- <u>tapasī</u> t
3p	<u>tapasī</u> wak	ē- <u>tapasī</u> cik
3'	<u>tapasī</u> yiwa	ē- <u>tapasī</u> yit

	IMPERATIVE IMM	DEL
2	<u>tapasī</u>	<u>tapasī</u> hkan
21p	<u>tapasī</u> tān	<u>tapasī</u> hkahk
2p	<u>tapasī</u> k	<u>tapasī</u> hkēk

Now we will look at actual examples from the texts; the texts contain no $\bar{1}$ -stem examples of the imperative forms.

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1	ninīhtakosīn	
2		
1 _p		
21p		
2p		·
3		
3p		ē-maskawisīcik
3'		

The $\bar{1}$ -stems present only one minor complication: in forms like $\underline{tapas}\bar{1}y\underline{iwa}$

where the stem-final long $-\bar{i}$ is followed by -y, it is difficult to distinguish vowel length. In all other stem forms, the $-\bar{i}$ is clearly long, e.g.,

nitapasīn.

We write stems like $\underline{\text{tapas}}_{-}^{-}$ with a long $\underline{-}_{-}^{-}$ (even before a $\underline{-}\underline{\text{y-}}_{-}^{-}$) to keep the spelling of the stem uniform.

$\bar{o}-\underline{stems}$

Our fourth group is the $\underline{\tilde{o}}\text{-stems;}$ for example:

The full paradigm (as used by the writer):

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1	ni <u>pasikō</u> n	ē- <u>pasikō</u> yān
2	ki <u>pasikō</u> n	ē- <u>pasikō</u> yan
1p	ni <u>pasikō</u> nān	ē- <u>pasikō</u> yāhk
21p	ki <u>pasikō</u> nānaw	ē- <u>pasikō</u> yahk
2p	ki <u>pasikō</u> nāwāw	ē- <u>pasikō</u> yēk
3	<u>pasikō</u> w	ē- <u>pasikō</u> t
3p	<u>pasikō</u> wak	ē- <u>pasikō</u> cik
3'	<u>pasikō</u> yiwa	ē- <u>pasikō</u> yit
		l l

	IMPERATIVE IMM	DEL	
2	<u>pasikō</u>	<u>pasikō</u> hkan	
21p	<u>pasikō</u> tān	<u>pasikō</u> hkahk	
2p	<u>pasikō</u> k	<u>pasikō</u> hkēk	

 $\underline{\tilde{o}}$ - stems are not very common; there is only one example in the texts:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1		
2		
1p		
21p		
2p		.
3		
3p		ē-pasikōcik
3'		

The $\overline{0}$ -stems present one minor complication which is parallel to that of the $\overline{1}$ -stems. Just as it is difficult to distinguish -i- and $-\overline{1}$ - before -y-, so it is difficult to tell vowel length when $-\overline{0}$ - or $-\overline{0}$ - is followed by $-\overline{w}$ -. But we write

<u>pasik</u>ōw

because the stem clearly ends in a long $-\bar{o}-$ in all other forms, e.g.,

nipasikon,

and in this way the spelling of the stem is kept uniform.

i-stems

The fifth group is the i-stems:

'drive home'	<u>kīwēpayiw</u>	<u>ē-kīwēpayiyān</u>
'sit'	<u>apiw</u>	<u>ē-apiyān</u>
	hes	I aming

With the inflectional suffixes marked off:

'drive home'	<u>kīwēpayi</u> +w	ē- <u>kīwēpayi</u> +yān
'sit'	<u>api</u> +w	ē- <u>api</u> +yān
	hes	I aming

The full paradigm (as used by the writer) of the stem $\underline{api-}$, with the $\underline{nit-}$ variant of the personal prefixes:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1	nit <u>api</u> n	ē- <u>api</u> yān
2	kit <u>api</u> n	ē- <u>api</u> yan
1p	nit <u>api</u> nān	ē- <u>api</u> yāhk
21p	kit <u>api</u> nānaw	ē- <u>api</u> yahk
2p	kit <u>api</u> nāwāw	ē- <u>api</u> yēk
3	<u>api</u> w	ē- <u>api</u> t
3p	<u>api</u> wak	ē- <u>api</u> cik
3'	<u>api</u> yiwa	ē- <u>api</u> yit

	IMPERATIVE IMM	DEL
2	api	<u>apī</u> hkan
21p	<u>api</u> tān	<u>apī</u> hkahk
2p	<u>api</u> k	<u>apī</u> hkēk

Note that the stem-final vowel $\underline{-i-}$ is lengthened to $\underline{-i-}$ before the suffixes of the delayed imperative.

Actual examples in the texts:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1	nikawacipayin	ē-ma-mācosiyān
2		
1p	nikīwēpayinān	ē-wīkiyāhk
21p		ē-mīciyahk
2p		
3	mihcētiw	ē-kī-isi-pimātisit
3p	apiwak	ē-kī-mihcēticik
3'		ē-tāwatiyit

	IMPERATIVE IMM	DEL
2		ay-itāpīhkan
21p	ati-paskēpayitāk	
2p		
	·	

The form

<u>ati-paskēpayi</u>tāk

has an ending $-t\bar{a}k$ even though all the paradigm tables give $-t\bar{a}n$ for the 21p imperative. This is one example where the dialect used in the texts differs slightly from that used by the writer. For the 21p imperative form, either $-t\bar{a}n$ or $-t\bar{a}k$ is heard.

There is only one complication with the <u>i</u>-stems. When the ending begins with a <u>-w-</u>, speakers usually start rounding their lips ahead of time, and the final <u>-i-</u> of the stems comes out as [o]; for example,

apiw

is often pronounced

[apow].

The $\underline{-w-}$ of the suffix may even have a lengthening effect on the [o], e.g.,

[apow].

Although you may hear [apow] or [apow], we still write \underline{apiw} because the rest of the paradigm shows the stem-final $\underline{-i-}$, and it is important to keep the spelling of the stem uniform.

In writing, it is easy to check the stem-final vowel in the first person, e.g.,

nitapin,

before one writes the third person form

<u>apiw</u>

and other \underline{i} -stems. And in reading, all you have to remember is that third person independent verb forms like

<u>apiw</u>

apiwak

may come out as

[apow]

[apowak]

in normal speech.

o-<u>stems</u>

Our sixth vowel-final stem is the \underline{o} -stem; for example:

'tell a story'	ācimow	<u>ē-ācimoyān</u>
'sing'	nikamow	<u>ē-nikamoyān</u>
·	he -s	I am —inq

With the inflectional suffixes marked off:

'tell a story'	<u>ācimo</u> +w	ē- <u>ācimo</u> +yān
'sing'	<u>nikamo</u> +w	ē- <u>nikamo</u> +yān
_	he+s	I am+ing

The full paradigms (as used by the writer), with the $\underline{\text{nit}}$ -variant of the personal prefixes:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1	nit <u>ācimo</u> n	ē- <u>ācimo</u> yān
2	kit <u>ācimo</u> n	ē- <u>ācimo</u> yan
1p	nit <u>ācimo</u> nān	ē- <u>ācimo</u> yāhk
21p	kit <u>ācimo</u> nānaw	ē- <u>ācimo</u> yahk
2p	kit <u>ācimo</u> nāwāw	ē- <u>ācimo</u> yēk
3	<u>ācimo</u> w	ē- <u>ācimo</u> t
3p	<u>ācimo</u> wak	ē- <u>ācimo</u> cik
3†	<u>ācimo</u> yiwa	ē- <u>ācimo</u> yit

	IMPERATIVE IMM	DEL
2	ācimo	<u>ācimō</u> hkan
21p	<u>ācimo</u> tān	<u>ācimō</u> hkahk
2p	<u>ācimo</u> k	<u>ācimō</u> hkēk

Note that the stem-final vowel $\underline{-o-}$ is lengthened to $\underline{-\bar{o-}}$ before the suffixes of the delayed imperative.

Actual examples that appear in the texts:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1	nimiyosīhon	ē-ācimoyān
2		ē-kitimahoyan
1p	nitācimonān	.
21p	kika-pihciponānaw	
2p		
3	wīkihtow	ē-isi-wāhkohtot
3p	ācimowak	ē-isīhocik
3'		k-ēsi-māyi-tōtātoyit

Again, we have no imperative example in the texts.

The stem-vowel of the \underline{o} -stems is short; this is obvious when you look at the first person independent form, e.g.,

nitācimon.

But before a -w-, this -o- may be lengthened, and we hear

[ācimōw]

-- even though we write

ācimow

in order to keep the spelling uniform.

The rounding and lengthening effects of $\underline{-w-}$ create a practical problem: the third person independent forms of three different stem-types may come out sounding exactly the same. We hear

[apōw]

[ācim<u>ōw</u>]

[pasik<u>ow</u>]

for

<u>apiw</u>

<u>ācimow</u>

<u>pasik</u>ōw.

Only when we check the first person form

<u>nitapin</u>

<u>nitācimon</u>

<u>nipasikōn</u>

can we be sure what the stem is and how to write it.

n-<u>stems</u>

This is our seventh and final group: \underline{n} -stems. We will find some complications with this stem-type.

As before, we begin with forms for the third person independent and for the first person conjunct:

'lie down'	pimisin	ē-pimisiniyān
'have slivers'	pīkocin	ē-pīkociniyān
	hes	I aming

Now, we mark off the affixes:

In all our previous examples, the stems that show up in these two forms are always the same, e.g.,

The <u>n</u>-stems differ from this pattern in two points. First, the third person singular form <u>pimisin</u> does not end in a $\underline{-w}$. Second, there is only a single stem

<u>nipā-</u>

but there are two variants for the $\underline{n}\text{-stems}$:

pimisin-

pimisini-.

The <u>pimisini</u> variant is used in all the first and second person forms, both independent and conjunct. These forms, in fact, look exactly like <u>i</u>-stem forms; they have the same endings, and they are added to a stem that ends in -i.

The full paradigm (as used by the writer):

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1	ni <u>pimisini</u> n	ē- <u>pimisini</u> yān
2	ki <u>pimisiņi</u> n	ē- <u>pimisini</u> yan
1p	ni <u>pimisini</u> nān	ē- <u>pimisini</u> yāhk
21p	ki <u>pimisini</u> nānaw	ē- <u>pimisini</u> yahk
2p	ki <u>pimisini</u> nāwāw	ē- <u>pimisini</u> yēk
3	pimisin	ē-pimisihk
3p	pimisinwak	ē-pimisihkik
3'	<u>pimisini</u> yiwa	ē- <u>pimisini</u> yit

The imperative forms also use the variant $\underline{\text{pimisini-}}$; note that the $\underline{-\text{i-}}$ is lengthened to $\underline{-\bar{\text{i-}}}$ before the suffixes of the delayed imperative:

	IMPERATIVE IMM	DEL	
2	<u>pimisini</u>	<u>pimisinī</u> hkan	
21p	<u>pimisini</u> tān	<u>pimisinī</u> hkahk	
2p	<u>pimisini</u> k	<u>pimisinī</u> hkēk	

The only forms that do not use the $\underline{\text{pimisini-}}$ variant are the third person singular and plural forms. Even the obviative has the $\underline{\text{pimisini-}}$ variant.

The distribution of the two variants resembles that of the $\underline{\bar{e}}/\underline{\bar{a}}\text{-stems};$ but it is far less neat.

The main difference between $\underline{n}\text{-stems}$ and vowel-stems lies in the forms for the third person singular and plural, both independent and conjunct.

In the independent, the third person singular form does not end in a $\underline{-w-}$,

pimisin,

but there is a -w- in the third person plural form,

pimisinwak.

The $\underline{-w}$ after the $\underline{-n}$ shows up when it is followed by a vowel (as in $\underline{-ak}$) but it disappears at the end of the word. This is exactly the same pattern that we have already seen in \underline{Cw} -nouns, e.g.,

atim

'dog, horse'

<u>atimwak</u>

'dogs, horses'.

In the conjunct, the \underline{n} -stems have a different ending:

ē-<u>nipā</u>t

ē-<u>nipā</u>cik

 \tilde{e} -pimisihk

ē-pimisihkik

Instead of the third person endings $\underline{-t}$ and $\underline{-cik}$ that occur with vowel-stems, the \underline{n} -stems have $\underline{-k}$ and $\underline{-kik}$. But there is still another complication on top of that: before the $\underline{-k}$ - of the ending, the stem-final $\underline{-n}$ - is replaced by $\underline{-h}$ -:

 $\bar{e}-\underline{pimisin}+k$ --> $\bar{e}-\underline{pimisih}k$

The same replacement rule also shows up in the conjunct forms of VII $\underline{\mathbf{n}}$ -stems, e.g.,

<u>wapan</u>

'it is dawn'

<u>ē-wāpahk</u>

'when it is dawn'

These will be discussed in detail in the next section.

The actual examples as they appear in the texts:

	I NDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1	nipīkocinin	ē-cahkāpiciniyān
2		·
1p		
21p		
2p		·
3		ē-sāsakitisihk
3p		ē-sōhkēkocihkik
31		

There are no imperative examples in the texts.

The <u>n</u>-stems stand by themselves. In the other six groups that we have discussed, we found that the third person singular form minus the suffix $\underline{-w}$ is the same as the imperative for the second person singular, e.g.,

pimipahtā!

pimohtē!

tapasī!

pasiko!

<u>api!</u>

<u>ācimo!</u>

In all these paradigms, this is the stem. For the \underline{n} -stems, on the other hand, this pattern does not hold; the third person singular and plural forms have the variant $\underline{pimisin}$ - and all other forms have the variant $\underline{pimisin}$ -.

The <u>n</u>-stems stand out among the VAI verbs. Even compared to the $\underline{\bar{e}}/\bar{a}$ -stems, they seem quite irregular.

Some Cree speakers, in fact, are regularizing all these complications. For them, there is only one form of the stem,

pimisini-

which is used in all forms of the paradigm. They say

pimisiniw

'he lies down'

pimisiniwak

'they lie down'

<u>ē-pimisinit</u>

'he is lying down'

<u>ē-pimisinicik</u>

'they are lying down'

For them, the $\underline{n}\text{-stems}$ are no problem any more; they have become regular $\underline{i}\text{-stems}.$

Without a detailed study we cannot tell if these innovative speakers will one day win out. But I have heard these forms from young speakers even in the heart of Plains Cree country.

Stem shapes

We have now worked our way through seven sets of verbs:

ā

 $\frac{\bar{e}}{\bar{a}}$

<u>ī</u>

<u>ō</u>

<u>i</u>

0

 \underline{n}

Four have <u>long</u> stem-vowels, two have <u>short</u> stem-vowels, and one stem-type ends in \underline{n} (alternating with \underline{ni}). The stem shapes of these verbs are different, but the paradigmatic affixes are the same for all the vowel stems (and they are only slightly different for the \underline{n} -stems).

Intransitive verbs

All of these verbs have something else in common: in each inflected form, the affixes mark only <u>one</u> person category. For example, the third person, 'he', in

pimohtew

'he walks';

the second person singular in

ki<u>pimohtā</u>n

'you (sg) walk';

and even the prefix-suffix combination

<u>ki-</u> <u>-nāwāw</u>

for the second person plural,

ki<u>pimohtā</u>nāwāw

'you (pl) walk'.

In all these verb forms, the affixes mark the person who does the walking, that is, the SUBJECT.

Verbs that express only the subject are traditionally called INTRANSITIVE.

The verbs we have been discussing express only a subject. Since all these verbs are used with $\underline{\text{animate}}$ nouns, they have often been called "Animate Intransitive". In this study we use the more neutral expression $\underline{\text{VAI}}$.

VII VERBS

Similar to the VAI stems, these verbs have no object; they are intransitive. The difference is that with these verbs, the subject is an <u>inanimate</u> subject. Therefore, this verb type is traditionally referred to as "Inanimate Intransitive" or, in a more neutral expression, <u>VII</u>.

Let's look at two sentences from the texts:

..., ewako awa kiseyiniw e-acimot, ...
'This old man told a story, ...' (10-3)

..., wiya kākikē ē-kāsisik nimohkomān, ...

'..., for my knife was always sharp, ...' (10-5).

In the first sentence, the subject is an animate noun, $\underline{kiseyiniw}$ 'old man, elder', and the verb $\underline{\bar{e}}$ - $\underline{\bar{a}}$ cimot consists of the VAI stem $\underline{\bar{a}}$ cimo- and the third person conjunct suffix $\underline{-t}$. In the second sentence, the subject is an inanimate noun, $\underline{nimohkoman}$ 'my knife', and $\underline{\bar{e}}$ - $\underline{kasisik}$ is a VII verb.

In the VII verb paradigm there are no first and second persons, and there is no imperative. Just as the animate third person category is abbreviated as $\underline{3}$, we use $\underline{0}$ to represent the various inanimate third person categories:

	CATEGORY	STANDARD TRANSLATION
0	third singular	'it'
0p	third plural	'they'
0'	third obviative singular	'it (obv)'
0'p	third obviative plural	'they (obv)'

As an example of a VII verb that can have a noun as a subject, let us look at the stem wapiska- 'be white':

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
0	wāpiskāw	<u>ē-wāpiskāk</u>
0p	<u>wāpiskāwa</u>	<u>e-wāpiskāki</u>
0'	<u>wāpiskāyiw</u>	<u>ē-wāpiskāyik</u>
0'p	<u>wāpiskāyiwa</u>	<u>ē-wāpiskāyiki</u>

In the section on nouns we already mentioned the fact that in Plains Cree inanimate nouns do not have an obviative ending, 10 e.g.,

nitastotin

'my cap'

otastotin

'his cap'.

But when you use such nouns with a VII verb, the obviative appears in the verb form, e.g.,

ē-wāpiskāk nitastotin.

'My cap is white(0).'

ē-wāpiskāyik otastotin.

'His cap is white(0').'

Many of the VII verbs do not occur with a noun as subject, e.g.,

kīsikāw

'it is day'

kimiwan

'it is raining'

While an animate noun with a third person possessor would have the obviative ending <u>-a</u>, e.g.,

otasikana
'his sock/socks'.

wāpan

'it is dawn'.

Verbs that cannot take a noun are called IMPERSONAL verbs.

Although these verb forms can stand alone as sentences, they may sound awkward in isolation. If we add particles such as

kīsikāw āsay.

'It is day already.'

tipiskāw ēkwa.

'It is night now.',

they become regular, everyday sentences.

Impersonal verbs normally do not have plural forms; with the stem $k\bar{s}ik\bar{a}$ 'be day', for example:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT	
0	<u>kīsikāw</u>	ē-kīsikāk	
q0			
0'	<u>kīsikāyiw</u>	<u>ē-kīsikāyik</u>	
0'p			

The obviative form of impersonal verbs is used when it occurs together with another third person verb form, e.g.,

<u>āsay ē-kīsikāyik, kā-takohtēt.</u>

'It was already morning when he arrived.'

Just like VAI stems, VII stems end in a vowel or \underline{n} . There are no examples of $\underline{\bar{1}}$ -, $\underline{\bar{0}}$ - or \underline{o} - stems in the texts; we will discuss the stem shapes in the following order:

<u>ā</u>

<u>ē</u>

<u>i</u>

<u>n</u>

The inflection of the vowel stems is quite regular; we will simply present the full paradigms (as used by the writer), with the text examples following each paradigm.

ā-<u>stems</u>

Stem <u>aya-</u> 'be there':

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
0	<u>ayā</u> w	ē- <u>ayā</u> k
0p	<u>ayā</u> wa	ē- <u>ayā</u> ki
0 '	<u>ayā</u> yiw	ē- <u>ayā</u> yik
q'0	<u>ayā</u> yiwa	ē- <u>avā</u> yiki

Text examples:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
0	kīsikāw	ē-ayāk
0p		
0'		·
0'p		

ē-<u>stems</u>

Stem wapaste- 'be faded (colour)':

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
0	<u>wāpāstē</u> w	ē- <u>wāpāstē</u> k
q0	<u>wāpāstē</u> wa	ē- <u>wāpāstē</u> ki
0'	<u>wāpāstē</u> yiw	ē- <u>wāpāstē</u> yik
0'p	<u>wāpāstē</u> yiwa	ē- <u>wāpāstē</u> yiki

Text examples:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
0	isiyīhkātēw	ē-wāsaskotēk
q0		ē-wāsaskotēki
0'		ē-asiwatēyik
q'0		ē-cimatēyiki

i-<u>stems</u>

Stem kīskipayi- 'break':

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
0	<u>kīskipayi</u> w	ē- <u>kīskipayi</u> k
0p	<u>kīskipayi</u> wa	ē- <u>kīskipayi</u> ki
0'	<u>kīskipayi</u> yiw	ē- <u>kīskipayi</u> yik
0'p	<u>kīskipayi</u> yiwa	ē- <u>kīskipayi</u> yiki

Text examples:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
0		kē-nīkānīwik
0p		MP 400 000
0'		
q'0		

As the tables show, all the VII vowel-stem forms simply consist of the stem and the ending; there are no morpheme-boundary complications.

n-stems

We begin with stems in -an:

'be dawn'	wapan	<u>ē-wāpahk</u>	
'be clean'	<u>kanātan</u>	<u>e-kanātahk</u>	
	i+ ic	it is being	

With the affixes marked off:

These forms follow a pattern which we have already seen with VAI \underline{n} -stems. The independent form has no $\underline{-w}$ - suffix, and in the conjunct form, the stem-final $\underline{-n}$ - is replaced by $\underline{-h}$ - before the $\underline{-k}$ - of the ending:

$$\underline{n}$$
 --> \underline{h} / \underline{k} \bar{e} - \underline{wapan} + k --> \bar{e} - \underline{wapah} + k

There are no plural forms for the impersonal verb \underline{wapan} , so we use another stem in $\underline{-an}$ to illustrate the full paradigm (as used by the writer):

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
0	<u>kanātan</u>	<u>ē-kanātahk</u>
q0	<u>kanātanwa</u>	<u>ē-kanātahki</u>
0'	<u>kanātaniyiw</u>	<u>ē-kanātaniyik</u>
0'p	<u>kanātaniyiwa</u>	<u>ē-kanātaniyiki</u>

Text examples:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
0	ispīhtēyihtākwan	ē-āsiciwahk
0p	. _	
0'	nipōmakaniyiw	ē-itēyihtākwaniyik
0'p		

In the independent the plural form shows the $\underline{-w-}$ which is missing in the singular:

<u>kanātan</u>

'it is clean'

<u>kanātanwa</u>

'they are clean'.

Note that this pattern is the same as that of Cw-noun stems, e.g.,

pahkēkin

'tanned hide'

pahkekinwa

'tanned hides'

The obviative forms seem to have a stem variant kanātani-.

<u>-in</u>-stems

The conjunct forms of VII stems in $\underline{-an}$ follow the same rules as those of VAI $\underline{n}\text{-stems}$:

ē-wāpah+k

ē-pimisih+k.

But VII stems in $\underline{-in}$ and $\underline{-on}$ have an additional complication.

Some -in stems work exactly like the -an stems, e.g.,

nīpin

ē-nīpihk

'be summer'

<u>ohpikin</u>

ē-<u>ohpikih</u>k

'grow'

<u>ihkin</u>

ē-<u>ihkih</u>k

'happen'.

But most $\underline{-in}$ stems drop the stem-final $\underline{-n-}$ (before it can get replaced by $\underline{-h-}$); the suffix $\underline{-k-}$ is added to a truncated variant of the stem:

<u>kāsisin</u>

ē-<u>kāsisi</u>k

'be sharp'

<u>cimāsin</u>

ē-<u>cimāsi</u>k

'be short'

<u>otākosin</u>

ē-<u>otākosi</u>k

'be evening'

pīkohtin

ē-<u>pīkohti</u>k

'break (in falling)'.

Stems with the simple $\underline{-k}$ in the conjunct seem to be in the majority, so students have to memorize those VII $\underline{-in}$ stems that have the conjunct in $\underline{-hk}$.

The full paradigm (as used by the writer):

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
0	<u>kāsisin</u>	<u>ē-kāsisik</u>
q0	<u>kāsisinwa</u>	<u>ē-kāsisiki</u>
0'	<u>kāsisiniyiw</u>	<u>ē-kāsisiniyik</u>
q'0	<u>kāsisiniyiwa</u>	<u>ē-kāsisiniyiki</u>

Text examples:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
0	pīkopayin	ē-kī-miywāsik
0p	miywāsinwa	ē-pimipayiki
0'	kī-miywāsiniyiw	ē-kī-miywāsiniyik
q'0		ē-miywāsiniyiki

<u>-on</u>-stems

Just as in the case of -in-stems, there are two sets of stems in -on. For some -on stems, the replacement rule

applies, e.g.,

<u>pipon</u>

ē-<u>pipoh</u>k

'be winter'

<u>ihtakon</u>

 $\bar{e} - \underline{ihtakoh}k$

'exist'.

But most $\underline{-on}$ stems drop the stem-final $\underline{-n-}$ before the $\underline{-k-}$ of the conjunct:

mispon

ē-<u>mispo</u>k

'snow'

pimamon

ē-<u>pimamo</u>k

'run along'.

The full paradigm (as used by the writer):

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
0	pimamon	ē-pimamok
0p	pimamonwa	ē-pimamoki
0'	pimamoniyiw	ē-pimamoniyik
q'0	pimamoniyiwa	ē-pimamoniyiki

Text examples:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
0	ka-pimamon	ē-iskwāpēkamok
q0		
0'		
0'p	· · · · ·	

Paired stems

VAI and VII stems often come in pairs, e.g.,

<u>wāpiskisi-</u> VAI

<u>wāpiskā-</u> VII

'be white'

<u>pēhtākosi-</u> VAI

<u>pēhtākwan-</u> VII

'be heard'

<u>māyātisi-</u> VAI

<u>māyātan-</u> VII

'be ugly'

<u>ihtako-</u> VAI

<u>ihtakon-</u> VII

'exist'.

In many cases, the VAI and VII stems look exactly the same, e.g.,

aya- VAI

ayā- VII

'be there'.

One can even come up with completely ambiguous sentences such as

ēkota ayāw.

'he is there (e.g., my boss)'

'it is there (e.g., a wolf-den)'

because the independent third person suffix is $\underline{-w}$ for both the VAI and the VII paradigms; only the context will tell who or what is the subject.

But with most inflectional forms, there is no ambiguity. The following two examples are from the texts:

..., nitōkimām itē ē-ayāt ēkota, ...

'..., there where my boss was, ...' (8-14)

..., konita ēkota mahīhkani-wāti ē-ayāk, ...

'..., there happened to be a wolf-den there, ...'
(8-9).

Both verbs are third person conjunct forms but

ē-ayāt

has the VAI suffix -t, and

<u>ē-ayā</u>k

has the VII suffix $\underline{-k}$.

VTI VERBS

Just as there are two sets of intransitive verbs in Cree (VAI and VII), there are also two sets of transitive verbs. TRANSITIVE verbs take an object, e.g.,

<u>niwāpahtēn āsay.</u>

'I see it already'

niwapahten kimasinahikan.

'I see your book.'

They may take both a subject and an object noun phrase, e.g.,

nimis kī-wāpahtam kimasinahikan.

'My older sister saw your book.'

All these sentences are quite different from such intransitive examples as

<u>nitakosinin āsay.</u>

'I just arrived.'

kosikwan kimasinahikan.

'Your book is heavy.',

which have no object.

<u>Transitive verbs</u>

There are two types of transitive verbs. With an inanimate object, the verb stem is

wapaht- VTI

'see it';

with an animate object, the stem is

wapam- VTA

'see him'.

The endings are also different:

<u>niwāpahtē</u>n

'I see it/them'

niwāpamāw

'I see him'

niwapamawak

'I see them'.

Transitive verbs with an animate object are called <u>VTA</u>, and transitive verbs with an inanimate object are called <u>VTI</u>.

The VTI paradigm is much simpler than the VTA paradigm. For example, the VTI paradigm has only one set of forms whether the object is singular or plural, e.g.,

niwapahten kimasinahikan.

'I see your book.'

niwapahten kimasinahikana.

'I see your books.'

The VTA paradigm has two distinct forms for singular and plural objects:

niwāpamāw kimis.

'I see your older sister.'

niwāpamāwak kimisak.

I see your older sisters.'

Another reason why the VTA paradigm is more complex is that people can get back at you, e.g.,

<u>kitahkwamitin</u>

'I bite you'

<u>kitahkwamin</u>

'you bite me'.

VTA verbs always involve two parties.

The VTI paradigm

All VTI stems follow the same inflectional pattern, and there are no complications at the boundary between the stem and the suffix.

Let us begin with two forms each of two stems:

'find it'	<u>nimiskēn</u>	<u>ē-miskahk</u>
'break it'	nipīkonēn	<u>ē-pīkonahk</u>
	I it	he ising it

The forms on the left side have the prefix \underline{ni} and the suffix $\underline{-en}$ in common, and those on the right share the conjunct preverb \underline{e} and the suffix $\underline{-ahk}$. If we look at the line instead, we see that the forms on the top line have the stem \underline{misk} in common, and those on the bottom line the stem \underline{pikon} . We can now mark the morpheme boundaries:

'find it'	ni+ <u>misk</u> +ēn	ē- <u>misk</u> +ahk
'break it'	ni+ <u>pīkon</u> +ēn	ē- <u>pīkon</u> +ahk
	I it	he is+ing it

The following is the full paradigm (as used by the writer):

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1 .	ni <u>misk</u> en	ē- <u>misk</u> amān
2	ki <u>misk</u> ēn	ē- <u>misk</u> aman
1p	ni <u>misk</u> ēnān	ē- <u>misk</u> amāhk
21p	ki <u>misk</u> ēnānaw	ē- <u>misk</u> amahk
2p	ki <u>misk</u> ēnāwāw	ē- <u>misk</u> amēk
3	<u>misk</u> am	ē- <u>misk</u> ahk
3p	<u>misk</u> amwak	ē- <u>misk</u> ahkik
3'	<u>misk</u> amiyiwa	ē- <u>misk</u> amiyit

Although the stem itself never changes, we can see that the suffixes fall into two sets: those of the first and second person of the independent order start in $-\bar{e}n-$, and all other forms have suffixes starting with -am-.

If we ignore the $-\bar{e}n-$ and -am- parts of the VTI endings, they are really quite similar to the endings of the VAI paradigm. They even have similar problems: first, the fact that a -w- appears in the plural ending

<u>-amwak</u>

but not in the corresponding singular ending

<u>-am;</u>

and second, the replacement of the nasal $\underline{-m}$ by $\underline{-h}$ before the $\underline{-k}$ of the third person conjunct singular and plural.

The imperative endings of the VTI paradigm are less regular than those of the VAI paradigm:

	IMPERATIVE IMM	DEL
2	<u>misk</u> a	<u>misk</u> amōhkan
21p	<u>misk</u> ētān	<u>misk</u> amõhkahk
2p	<u>misk</u> amok	<u>misk</u> amōhkēk

There is nothing wrong with the imperative forms of $\underline{\text{misk-}}$ as far as their make-up is concerned. But they are awkward semantically -- you never know in advance if you are going to find something. The normal word that we would use in Cree is $\underline{\text{niton-}}$ 'look for it':

	IMPERATIVE IMM	DEL	
2	<u>niton</u> a	<u>niton</u> amōhkan	
21p	<u>niton</u> ētān	<u>niton</u> amōhkahk	
2p	<u>niton</u> amok	<u>niton</u> amōhkēk	,

Now for the real examples as used in the texts:

	INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
1	nikī-kostēn	ē-isi-pēhtamān
2	kiwāpahtēn	
1p	nipēhtēnān	ē-nitawēyihtamāhk
21p	kikiskēyihtēnānaw	ē-kī-tipēyihtamahk
2p		ka-wāpahtamēk
3	kiskēyihtam	ē-kī-kwāpahahk
3p	nitawēyihtamwak	ē-kī-pē-wīhtahkik
3'		kā-pistinamiyit

	IMPERATIVE IMM	DEL	
2	otina	postiskamōhkan	
21p		Min San Sign	
2p	 _ :	And 400 And	

Stem shapes

All VTI stems take exactly the same endings as <u>misk-</u>. The stems of VTI verbs end in a consonant or consonant cluster:

h: kwapah- 'dip it out'

<u>n</u>: <u>pīkon-</u> 'break it'

s: kīskis- 'cut it'

<u>t: tahkopit-</u> 'tie it'

ht: kiskeyiht- 'know it'

st: kost- 'be scared of it'

hk: ponihk- 'leave it alone'

sk: postisk- 'put it on'

Paired stems

We saw in our discussion of VAI and VII stems that intransitive verbs often come in pairs, e.g.,

<u>wāpiskisi-</u> VAI

wāpiskā- VII

'be white'.

With intransitive verbs, it is the gender of the subject which selects the verb stem, e.g.,

ē-wāpiskisit ana sēhkēpayīs.

'That car is white.'

ē-wāpiskāk anima sīpēkiskāwasākay.

'That sweater is white.'

Transitive stems are paired according to the gender of the object, e.g.,

nitakahkeyimaw nisehkepayim.

'I like my car.'

nitakahkeyihten nisīpekiskawasakas.

'I like my sweater.'

Some VTA stems have exactly the same shape as their VTI counterparts, e.g.,

wepin- VTA

'throw him away'

wepin- VTI

'throw it away'

otin- VTA

'take him'

otin- VTI

'take it'.

Only the affixes and the noun phrases show which is VTA and which is VTI:

otin ana nāpēsis.

'Take that little boy!'

otina anima mēcawākanis.

'Take that toy!'

niwī-wēpināw nisēhkēpayīm.

'I am going to dump my car.'

niwī-wēpinēn nisīpēkiskāwasākās.

'I am going to throw my sweater out.'

Some of the stems differ slightly:

wapam- VTA

'see him'

wapaht- VTI

'see it'

nipēhtawāw awāsis.

'I hear a child.'

nipēhtēn ē-matwēwēk.

'I hear a shot.'

There are many VTA stems in this group which do not have a matching VTI stem but instead are paired with a VAI stem in $-ht\bar{a}-$, e.g.,

<u>apacih-</u> VTA

'use him'

<u>āpacihtā-</u> VAI (transitive)

'use (it)'

These are VAI stems that take an object, e.g.,

āpacih ana masinahikanāhcikos.

'Use that pencil!'

āpacihtā anima pakamākanis.

'Use that hammer!'

nimosihaw oces.

'I feel a fly [on me].'

nimosihtan e-kimiwahk.

'I feel the rain.'

The VTA stem may also be matched by a transitive VAI stem which is not built on $\underline{-hta-}$, e.g.,

ayaw- VTA

'have him'

<u>ayā-</u> VAI (transitive)

'have (it)'

nitayāwāw masinahikanāhcikos.

'I have a pencil.'

nitayan masinahikan.

'I have a book.'

In some cases, the two transitive stems meaning the same thing are entirely different; the best example is one where a VTA stem does not have a matching VTI stem at all but where a VAI stem with an object is used instead:

mow- VTA

'eat him'

mīci- VAI (transitive)

'eat (it)'

niwī-mowāw kinosew.

'I am going to eat fish'

niwī-mīcin wiyās.

'I am going to eat meat.'

These two stems are not at all similar in form; but they are clearly parallel in meaning.

VTA VERBS

Verbs with an animate object have two noun phrases with which they must agree: subject and object; therefore, they have the greatest number of different inflectional forms.

For the same reason, these verbs need to show which of the two noun phrases is the subject and which is the object. This is a grammatical category which shows up only in the VTA paradigm; it is usually called DIRECTION.

Direction

The two examples which follow differ only in direction; the parties to the action are the same in both:

<u>nipamihānān</u>

'we look after him'

<u>nipamih</u>iko<u>nān</u>

'he looks after us'.

These two words differ only in the direction marker; the first is DIRECT and shows the direct marker $-\bar{a}$; the second is INVERSE and shows the inverse marker -iko.

The table which follows summarizes the direction markers for the MIXED-THIRD set of forms; these are all the forms where the third person is either the subject or the object (or both).

	VTA MIXED-THIR DIRECT INDEP	RD SET CONJ	INVERSE INDEP	CONJ	
	-3/-3p	-3/-3p	3-/3p-	3-/3p-	
1-	-ā-	*	-ik(w)-	*	-1
2-	-ā-	*	-ik(w)-	*	-2
1p-	-ā-	-ā-	-iko-	-iko-	-1p
21p-	-ā-	-ā-	-iko-	-iko-	-21p
2p-	-ā-	-ā-	-iko-	-iko-	-2p
	-3'	-3'	3'-	3'-	2
3-	-ē-	-ā-	-ik(w)-	-iko-	-3
3p-	−ē−	-ā-	-ik(w)-	-iko-	-3p
3'-	- ē -	-ā-	-iko-	-iko-	-3'
					J

This table has two problem areas. First, there are several forms where the morpheme -ikw- occurs at the end of a word and therefore loses its -w-, e.g.,

<u>nipamih</u>ik

'he looks after me'.

The -w- shows up when it is followed by a vowel, e.g.,

<u>nipamih</u>ikw<u>ak</u>

'they look after me'.

This is the rule which also applies to noun stems in -Cw-, e.g.,

<u>mistik</u>

'a tree'

mistikwak

'trees'.

Second, there are forms where the direction marker cannot be clearly isolated from the rest of the ending; these forms are indicated with an asterisk (*).

The next table displays the direction markers for those forms where both subject and object are first or second persons; this set of VTA forms is called the YOU-AND-ME set.

	VTA YOU-AND-ME DIRECT		INVERSE		
	INDEP	CONJ	INDEP	CONJ	
	-1/-1p	-1/1p	1/1p-	1/1p-	
2-	-i-	-i-	-iti-	-it-	-2
2/2p-	-i-	-i-	-iti-	-it-	-2/2p
2p-	-i-	-i-	-iti-	-it-	-2p

The main problem with these direction markers will come up when we discuss stems ending in a semivowel (\underline{w} or \underline{y}) or in $\underline{-t-}$.

Simple stems

VTA stems which end in $\underline{-m-}$, $\underline{-n-}$, or $\underline{-h-}$ fit into the same paradigm; they have no major complications. 11 The paradigm table is based on the stem $\underline{pamih-}$ 'look after him' (as used by the writer):

	VTA INDEPENDENT (MIXED-THIRD SET) DIRECT INVERSE				
	-3	-3p	3-	3p-	
1-	ni <u>pamih</u> āw	-ak	ni <u>pamih</u> ik	-(w)ak	- 1
2-	ki <u>pamih</u> āw	-ak	ki <u>pamih</u> ik	-(w)ak	-2
1p-	ni <u>pamih</u> ānān	-ak	ni <u>pamih</u> ikonān	-ak	-1p
21p-	ki <u>pamih</u> ānaw	-ak	ki <u>pamih</u> ikonaw	-ak	-21p
2p-	ki <u>pamih</u> āwāw	-ak	ki <u>pamih</u> ikow a w	-ak	-2p
	-3'		3'-		
3-	<u>pamih</u> ēw		<u>pamih</u> ik		-3
3p-	<u>pamih</u> ēwak		<u>pamih</u> ikwak		-3p
3'-	<u>pamih</u> ēyiw	a	<u>pamih</u> ikoyiv	√a	-3'

In order to keep this section as simple as possible, we leave out those forms where one party is a first or second person and the other is an obviative, e.g.,

nikosis e-pamihimāyāhk otema.
'We are looking after my son's horse/horses.'

In this table, the -ak is added in a second column for those forms which combine a non-third person with a third person plural. Note that the final -w- of the direction marker -ikw- appears before this -ak but disappears at the end of the word.

In the paradigm tables for the you-and-me set, only one form is used for the second person singular (2) and plural (2p) when it is combined with the first person plural (1p): 12

	VTA INDEPENDENT (YOU-AND-ME SET) DIRECT INVERSE				
	-1 -·	lp 1.	_	1p-	
2-	ki <u>pamih</u> in	k	i <u>pamih</u> itin		-2
2/2p-	ki <u>pamih</u> ina	in	k	i <u>pamih</u> itinān	-2/2p
2p-	ki <u>pamih</u> ināwāw	k	i <u>pamih</u> itināwa	āw	-2p

In the conjunct paradigm of the mixed-third set, the direction markers are $-\bar{a}$ - for the direct forms and -iko- for the inverse forms -- except in the forms for the first and second person singular where the direction marker cannot be clearly isolated from the ending.

¹² Since these paradigm tables include both direct and inverse, there was not enough space to print the forms side by side: for this reason the 2/2p-1p and the 1p-2/2p forms were printed only once and on a separate line.

					_
	VTA CONJUNCT (MIXED-THIRD SET) DIRECT INVERSE				
	-3	-3p	3-	3p-	
1-	ē- <u>pamih</u> ak	-ik	ē- <u>pamih</u> it	-(c)ik	-1
2-	ē- <u>pamih</u> at	-(c)ik	ē- <u>pamih</u> isk	-ik	-2
1p-	ē- <u>pamih</u> āyāhk	-ik	ē- <u>pamih</u> ikoyāhk	-ik	-1p
21p-	ē- <u>pamih</u> āyahk	-ok	ē- <u>pamih</u> ikoyahk	-ok	-21p
2p-	ē- <u>pamih</u> āyēk	-ok	ē- <u>pamih</u> ikoyēk	-ok	-2p
	-3'		3'-		_
3-	ē- <u>pamih</u> āt		ē- <u>pamih</u> ikot		-3
3p-	ē- <u>pamih</u> ācik		ē- <u>pamih</u> ikocik		-3p
3'-	ē- <u>pamih</u> āyit		ē- <u>pamih</u> ikoyit		-3'
	L				

The forms for the third person plural which are abbreviated in the second column force us to deal with another morpheme-boundary rule. When the morpheme-final $\underline{-t-}$ in

<u>ē-pamiha</u>t

'you are looking after him'

and

$\frac{\bar{e}-pamihi}{t}$

'he is looking after me'

is followed by the -i- of the plural suffix -ik, the -t- is replaced by -c-, e.g.,

<u>ē-pamiha</u>c<u>ik</u>

'you are looking after them'

<u>e-pamihicik</u>

'they are looking after me'.

This replacement is called \underline{c} -PALATALIZATION, and we have already seen many examples of it, e.g.,

<u>ē-nipā</u>t

'he is sleeping'

<u>ē-nipācik</u>

'they are sleeping'.

In the conjunct forms which combine a non-third person with a third person plural, the plural is marked by either -ik or -ok; the -ok ending indicates that the preceding suffix ends in -w-, e.g.,

 $[\underline{\tilde{e}}-pamih\bar{a}y\bar{e}kw+i\underline{k}]$

ē-pamihāyēkok.

The $\underline{-w}$ and the $\underline{-i}$ merge into $\underline{-o}$. (This is the rule already discussed for the locative of \underline{Cw} -noun stems.) In the 1p and 21p forms, there seems to be a fair amount of fluctuation between $\underline{-ik}$ and $\underline{-ok}$.

In the you-and-me set of the conjunct also, only one form is used for the second person singular (2) and plural (2p) when it is combined with the first person plural (1p):

	VTA CONJUNCT (YOU-AND-ME DIRECT	SET) INVERSE	
	-1 -1p	1- 1p-	
2-	ē- <u>pamih</u> iyan	ē- <u>pamih</u> itān	-2
2/2p-	ē- <u>pamih</u> iyāhk	ē- <u>pamih</u> itāhk	-2/2p
2p-	ē- <u>pamih</u> iyēk	ē- <u>pamih</u> itakok	-2p

All the imperative forms have a second person subject; there are no inverse imperatives: 13

¹³ Instead, there is a weaker kind of command which uses the independent order with the future preverb <u>ka</u> and appropriate particles, e.g.,

kiyām ka-pamihik.
'Let him look after you.'

mahti ka-kīsikāw. 'Let there be light.'

	VTA IMPERATIVE IMM	(MIXED-THIRD SET)
	-3	-3p
2-	<u>pamih</u>	<u>pamih</u> ik
21p-	<u>pamih</u> ātān	<u>pamih</u> ātānik
2p-	<u>pamih</u> ihk	<u>pamih</u> ihkok
	DEL	·
2-	<u>pamih</u> āhkan	<u>pamih</u> āhkanik
21p-	<u>pamih</u> āhkahk	<u>pamih</u> āhkahkok
2p-	<u>pamih</u> āhkēk	<u>pamih</u> āhkēkok

In the you-and-me set, there are no imperative forms for an inclusive plural (21p) because you do not command yourself:

	VTA IMPERATIV IMM	E (YOU-AND-ME SET)
***	-1	-1p
2-	<u>pamih</u> in	<u>pamih</u> inān
2p-	<u>pamih</u> ik	<u>pamih</u> inān
	DEL	
2-	<u>pamih</u> īhkan	<u>pamih</u> īhkāhk
2p-	<u>pamih</u> īhkēk	<u>pamih</u> īhkāhk

The last table gives the forms pamihinan and pamihinkahk (2/2p-1p) twice. This means that there is no difference between the second person singular (2) and plural (2p) when they interact with the first person plural (1p). 14

When you look at the two imperative tables, you will also notice that the form pamihik shows up twice, but in different places of the paradigm. This form is ambiguous; it has two meanings as an imperative:

pamihik

'you (sg) look after them!'

'you (pl) look after me!'

In addition, the same form appears in the independent paradigm; it is the inverse form for an obviative acting on a third person (3'-3):

pamihik

'he is looked after by him (obv)'.

Only when this form is used in context can you tell what is meant.

¹⁴ This is the same situation as that which exists in the you-and-me set of the independent and conjunct paradigms. But in the imperative tables there is enough space to print them side by side.

Text examples: 15

Independent

- 1-3 nikitimahāw
- 1-3p niwīci-minihkwēmāwak
- 1p-3 nipāhpihānān
- 2p-3 ka-pāhpihāwāw
- 3-3' pakitinew
- 3-1 nikwatakimik
- 3-2 kika-nipahik
- 3p-21p kimēscihikonawak
- 3'-3p pisiskēyimikwak

Conjunct

- 1-3 ē-kāhcitinak
- 1-3p ē-pāhpihakik
- 1p-3 ē-wī-kāhkwēyimāyāhk
- 1p-3p ē-kīwēhtahāyāhkik
- 3-3' ē-kī-sīhkimāt
- 3p-3' ē-kī-manācihācik
- 3'- ē-pē-tahkwamāyit
- 3-1 ē-kisiwāhit

Finally, it would be good practice for anyone using this book to draw their own charts for these examples.

There are several reasons why the text examples for the VTA paradigm are not printed in tables. With the direct-inverse dimension added to the tables, you just cannot fit four long words on each line; besides, there would be many tables with only one or two examples in each.

3p-1 ē-kitāpamicik

3p-1p ē-kī-isi-otinikoyāhkik

3-21 ē-mōhikoyahk

3'-3 ē-misiwanācihikot

3'-3p ē-nēpēwihikocik

2p-1 ka-wāpamināwāw

1-2 kika-masinahikehitin

Imperative

2p-3 wapamihk

Cw-stems

VTA stems that end in a cluster of a consonant (\underline{C}) plus $\underline{-w}$ are quite common. Most of them end in $\underline{-hw}$, e.g.,

pakamahw-

'hit him';

there are also many that end in -sw-, e.g.,

pāskisw-

'shoot him',

but there are no examples of -sw- stems in the texts.

In the discussion of noun stems in $\underline{-Cw-}$ we saw that the stem-final $\underline{-w-}$ combines with the suffix-initial $\underline{-i-}$ to make $\underline{-o-}$; for example, with the locative suffix $\underline{-ihk}$:

[mistikw+ihk]
mistikohk
'on a tree'.

The same morpheme-boundary rule applies when a VTA stem in $\underline{-\text{Cw-}}$ is followed by a suffix that begins in $\underline{-\text{i-}}$, e.g.,

[<u>nipakamah</u>w+i<u>k</u>]

<u>nipakamahok</u>

'he hits me'

 $[\underline{\bar{e}}-p\bar{a}skisw+it]$

<u>ē-pāskis</u>o<u>t</u>

'he is shooting me'

 $[\underline{\bar{e}}-p\bar{a}skisw+iskik]$

<u>ē-pāskis</u>o<u>skik</u>

'they are shooting you'.

The full paradigm (as used by the writer):

	VTA INDEPENDENT (MIXED-THIRD SET) DIRECT INVERSE				
	-3	-3p	3-	3p-	
1-	nipakamahwāw	-ak	nipakamahok	-(w)ak	-1
2-	kipakamahwāw	-ak	kipakamahok	-(w)ak	-2
1p-	nipakamahwānān	-ak	nipakamahokonān	-ak	-1p
21p-	kipakamahwānaw	-ak	kipakamahokonaw	-ak	-21p
2p-	kipakamahwāwāw	-ak	kipakamahokowaw	-ak	-2p
	-3'	,	3'-		
3-	pakamahwe	W	pakamahok		-3
3p-	pakamahwē	wak	pakamahokwa	a k	-3p
3'-	pakamahwē	yiwa	pakamahokoy	yiwa	-3'

	VTA INDEPENDENT (YOU-AND-ME SET) DIRECT INVERSE				
	-1 -1p	1- 1p-			
2-	kipakamahon	kipakamahotin	-2		
2/2p-	kipakamahonān	kipakamahotinān	-2/2p		
2p-	kipakamahonāwāw	kipakamahotināwāw	-2p		

VTA CONJUNCT (MIXED-THIRD SET) DIRECT INVERSE				
-3	-3p	3~	3p-	
ē-pakamahwak	-ik	ē-pakamahot	-(c)ik	-1
ē-pakamahwat	-(c)ik	ē-pakamahosk	-ik	-2
ē-pakamahwāyāhk	-ik	ē-pakamahokoyāhk	-ik	-1p
ē-pakamahwāyahk	-ok	ē-pakamahokoyahk	-ok	-21 ₁
ē-pakamahwāyēk	-ok	ē-pakamahokoyēk	-ok	-2p
-3'		3'-		
ē−pakamah	wāt	ē-pakamahok	ot	-3
ē-pakamahwācik		ē-pakamahok	ocik	-3p
ē-pakamah	wāyit	ē-pakamahok	oyit	-3'
	DIRECT -3 ē-pakamahwak ē-pakamahwayāhk ē-pakamahwāyāhk ē-pakamahwāyāk -3' ē-pakamah ē-pakamah	DIRECT -3 -3p ē-pakamahwak -ik ē-pakamahwat -(c)ik ē-pakamahwāyāhk -ik ē-pakamahwāyāhk -ok ē-pakamahwāyāhk -ok -3' ē-pakamahwāt	DIRECT INVERSE -3 -3p 3- ē-pakamahwak -ik ē-pakamahot ē-pakamahwat -(c)ik ē-pakamahosk ē-pakamahwāyāhk -ik ē-pakamahokoyāhk ē-pakamahwāyahk -ok ē-pakamahokoyāhk ē-pakamahwāyēk -ok ē-pakamahokoyēk -3' 3'- ē-pakamahwāt ē-pakamahok ē-pakamahwācik ē-pakamahok	DIRECT INVERSE -3 -3p 3- 3p- ē-pakamahwak -ik ē-pakamahot -(c)ik ē-pakamahwat -(c)ik ē-pakamahosk -ik ē-pakamahwāyāhk -ik ē-pakamahokoyāhk -ik ē-pakamahwāyahk -ok ē-pakamahokoyahk -ok ē-pakamahwāyēk -ok ē-pakamahokoyēk -ok -3' 3'- ē-pakamahokot ē-pakamahwācik ē-pakamahokocik ē-pakamahokocik

	VTA CONJUNCT (YOU-AND-ME DIRECT	SET) INVERSE	
	-1 -1p	1- 1p-	
2-	ē-pakamahoyan	ē-pakamahotān	-2
2/2p-	ē-pakamahoyāhk	ē-pakamahotāhk	-2/2p
2p-	ē-pakamahoyēk	ē-pakamahotakok	-2p

	VTA IMPERATIVE IMM	(MIXED-THIRD SET)
5.	-3	-3p
2-	pakamah	pakamahok
21p-	pakamahwātān	pakamahwātānik
2p-	pakamahohk	pakamahohkok
•	DEL	
2-	pakamahwahkan	pakamahwāhkanik
21p-	pakamahwahkahk	pakamahwāhkahkok
2p-	pakamahwāhkēk	pakamahwāhkēkok

	VTA IMPERATIVE IMM	(YOU-AND-ME SET)
	-1	-1p
2-	pakamahon	pakamahonān
2p-	pakamahok	pakamahonān
	DEL	
2-	pakamahōhkan	pakamahōhkāhk
2p-	pakamahōhkēk	pakamahōhkāhk

Text examples:

Independent

- 1-3 niwīsakahcahwāw
- 1-3p nikīwētisahwāwak
- 1p-3 nitayēskotisahwānān
- 3-1 nisipwētisahok

Conjunct

- 1-3 ē-pakamahwak
- 1-3p ē-takotisahwakik
- 3-1 ē-wīsakahcahot
- 3-2 ka-wayawī-pakamahosk

Vw-<u>stems</u>

Many VTA stems end in a sequence of a vowel (\underline{V}) plus $\underline{-w-}$; almost all of these end in $\underline{-aw-}$, e.g.,

miskaw-

'find him'. 16

Just like the VTI imperative <u>miska</u> 'find it!', the paradigm of <u>miskaw</u> also contains a few forms that are semantically awkward; but <u>miskaw</u> is one of the shortest VTA stems in <u>-aw</u> and therefore easy to use in a paradigm table.

When nouns in $\underline{-Vw-}$ have a suffix that starts with an $\underline{-i-}$, the final semivowel of the stem and the $\underline{-i-}$ of the suffix drop, and the preceding vowel is lengthened; for example,

[meskanaw+ihk]

<u>mēskanāhk</u>

'on the road'.

The same morpheme-boundary rule may apply when a VTA stem in $\underline{-aw-}$ is followed by a suffix that begins in $\underline{-i-}$, e.g.,

 $[\underline{\text{nimisk}}aw+i\underline{k}]$

<u>nimiskāk</u>

'he finds me'

 $[\underline{\bar{e}}-misk$ aw+i \underline{sk}]

<u>ē-misk</u>ā<u>sk</u>

'he is finding you'.

But there are also suffixes beginning in $\underline{-i-}$ which do not take part in this rule, e.g.,

[e-miskaw+it]

<u>ē-miskawit</u>

'he is finding me'.

In short, the CONTRACTION rule

 $\underline{v}\underline{w} + \underline{i}$ --> $\underline{\overline{v}}$

does not work for all suffixes with initial -i-.

The paradigms have examples of both kinds:

- (1) the contraction of $\underline{-aw+i-}$ to $\underline{-\bar{a}-}$; and
- (2) sequences of <u>-aw+i-</u> which are not contracted but simply come out as <u>-awi-</u>.

In the paradigm tables (as used by the writer), those instances of -i- which do <u>not</u> show contraction are underscored:

	VTA INDEPENDENT DIRECT	(MIXED-THI	RD SET) INVERSE		
	-3	-3p	3-	3p-	
1-	nimiskawāw	-ak	nimiskāk	-(w)ak	-1
2	kimiskawāw	-ak	kimiskāk	-(w)ak	-2
1p-	nimiskawānān	-ak	nimiskākonān	-ak	-1p
21p-	kimiskawānaw	-ak	kimiskākonaw	-ak	-21p
2p-	kimiskawāwāw	-ak	kimiskākowāw	-ak	-2p
	-3'		3'-		
3-	miskawēw		miskāk		-3
3p-	miskawēwa	ak .	miskākwak		-3p
3'-	miskawēy:	iwa	miskākoyiv	va	-3'

	VTA INDEPENDENT (YOU-AND-ME SET) DIRECT INVERSE		
	-1 -1p	1- 1p-	
. 2-	kimiskaw <u>i</u> n	kimiskātin	-2
2/2p-	kimiskaw <u>i</u> nān	kimiskātinān	-2/2p
2p-	kimiskaw <u>i</u> nāwāw	kimiskātināwāw	-2p

	VTA CONJUNCT DIRECT	(MIXED-THIRD	SET) INVERSE		
	-3	-3p	3-	3p-	7
1-	ē-miskawak	-ik	ē-miskaw <u>i</u> t	-(c)ik	-1
2-	ē-miskawat	-(c)ik	ē-miskāsk	-ik	-2
1p-	ē-miskawāyāhk	-ik	ē-miskākoyāhk	-ik	-1p
21p-	ē-miskawāyahk	-ok	ē-miskākoyahk	-ok	-21p
2p-	ē-miskawāyēk	-ok	ē-miskākoyēk	-ok	-2p
	-3'		3'-		
3-	ē-miska	ıwāt	ē-miskāko	t	-3
3p-	ē-miska	wācik	ē-miskāko	cik	-3p
3'-	ē-miska	wāyit	ē-miskāko	yit	-3'

	VTA CONJUNCT (YOU-AND-ME SET) DIRECT INVERSE		
	-1 -1p	1- 1p-	
2-	ē-miskaw <u>i</u> yan	ē-miskātān	-2
2/2p-	ē-miskaw <u>i</u> yāhk	ē-miskātāhk	-2/2p
2p-	ē-miskaw <u>i</u> yēk	ē-miskātakok	-2p

	VTA IMPERATIVE IMM	(MIXED-THIRD SET)
	-3	-3p
2-	miskaw	miskaw <u>i</u> k
21p-	miskawātān	miskawātānik
2p-	miskāhk	miskāhkok
	DEL	
2-	miskawāhkan	miskawāhkanik
21p-	miskawāhkahk	miskawāhkahkok
2p-	miskawāhkēk	miskawāhkēkok

	VTA IMPERATIVE IMM	(YOU-AND-ME SET)
	-1	-1p
2-	miskaw <u>i</u> n	miskaw <u>i</u> nān
2p-	miskaw <u>i</u> k	miskaw <u>i</u> nān
	DEL	
2-	miskaw <u>ī</u> hkan	miskaw <u>ī</u> hkāhk
2p-	miskaw <u>ī</u> hkēk	miskaw <u>ī</u> hkāhk

The non-contracting $\underline{-i-}$ occurs in two isolated forms: the 3-1 conjunct form,

$\frac{\bar{e}-miskaw}{\bar{t}}$

'he is finding me'

and the 2-3p immediate imperative,

<u>miskaw</u>i<u>k</u>

'find them!'

All the other instances of non-contracting $\underline{-i-}$ occur in the direct you-and-me forms:

	VTA INDEPENDENT DIRECT	(YOU-AND-ME SET)
	-1	-1p
2-	kimiskaw <u>i</u> n	kimiskaw <u>i</u> nān
2p-	kimiskaw <u>i</u> nāwāw	kimiskaw <u>i</u> nān

	VTA CONJUNCT (YOU-AND-ME SET) DIRECT	
•	-1	-1p
2-	ē-miskaw <u>i</u> yan	ē-miskaw <u>i</u> yāhk
2p-	ē-miskaw <u>i</u> yēk	ē-miskaw <u>i</u> yāhk

	VTA IMPERATIVE IMM	E (YOU-AND-ME SET)
	-1	-1p
2-	miskaw <u>i</u> n	miskaw <u>i</u> nān
2p-	miskaw <u>i</u> k	miskaw <u>i</u> nān

	VTA IMPERATIVE DEL	(YOU-AND-ME SET)
	-1	-1p
2-	miskaw <u>ī</u> hkan	miskaw <u>ī</u> hkāhk
2p-	miskaw <u>ī</u> hkēk	miskaw <u>ī</u> hkāhk

Note that the non-contracted $\underline{-i-}$ is lengthened before the delayed imperative endings.

We have seen that the $\underline{\text{miskaw-}}$ paradigm has both $\underline{-\bar{\text{a}-}}$ and $\underline{-\text{awi-}}$ forms, e.g.,

[<u>kimisk</u>aw+i<u>tin</u>]

<u>kimiskātin</u>

'I find you'

[kimiskaw+in]

 $\underline{\mathtt{kimisk}}\mathtt{awi}\underline{\mathtt{n}}$

'you find me'.

These forms show that there are two types of -i-:

- (1) contracting -i-,
- (2) non-contracting -i-;

they sound (and look) exactly alike but they act in totally opposite ways.

Text examples:

Independent

- 1-3 nitatamiskawāw
- 1-3p nikī-pēhtawāwak
- 2p-3 kipēhtawāw
- 3-3' mākoskawēw
- 3-1 nikī-kitahamāk
- 1-2p kiwī-ācimostātināwāw

Conjunct

- 1-3 ē-wī-atamiskawak
- 1-3p ka-wīhtamawakik
- 1p-3 ē-nitawi-mawinēhwāyāhk
- 1p-3p ē-papā-itohtatamawāyāhkik
- 3-3' ē-kī-atamiskawāt
- 3p-3' ē-wīhtamawācik
- 3-1 ē-kī-ācimostawit
- 3p-2 ē-pēhtāskik
- 3-1p kā-kī-ohciyākoyāhk

3p-1p kā-wīhtamākoyāhkik

3-21p ē-pakitinamākoyahk

3'-3 ē-sā-sāmiskākot

3'-3p ē-ohci-tāwiskākocik

1-2 ē-wī-nakatamātān

Imperative

2-3 isīhkaw

2-1 atoskawin

<u>Vw</u>-stems with long vowels

When the vowel which precedes the final $\underline{-w}$ of a VTA stem is already long, it does not get lengthened any further; but the final $\underline{-w}$ of the stem and the initial $\underline{-i}$ of those suffixes which start in contracting $\underline{-i}$ disappear.

In the paradigm of the stem wicew- 'go with him' the contracting -i- and the non-contracting -i- show up in exactly the same places as in the miskaw- paradigm. In the paradigm tables (as used by the writer) the non-contracting -i- is underscored:

	VTA INDEPENDENT (MIXED-THIRD SET) DIRECT INVERSE				
	-3	-3p	3-	3p-	
1-	niwīcēwāw	-ak	niwīcēk	-(w)ak	-1
2-	kiwīcēwāw	-ak	kiwīcēk	-(w)ak	-2
1p-	niwīcēwānān	-ak	niwīcēkonān	-ak	-1p
21p-	kiwīcēwānaw	-ak	kiwīcēkonaw	-ak	-21p
2p-	kiwīcēwāwāw	-ak	kiwīcēkowāw	-ak	-2p
	-3'		3'-		
3-	wīcēwēw		wīcēk		-3
3p-	wīcēwēwak		wīcēkwak		-3p
3'-	wīcēwēyiv	va.	wīcēkoyiv	va	-3'

	VTA INDEPENDENT (YOU-AND-ME SET) DIRECT INVERSE		
	-1 -1p	1- 1p-	
2-	kiwīcēw <u>i</u> n	kiwīcētin	-2
2/2p-	kiwīcēw <u>i</u> nān	kiwīcētinān	-2/2p
2p-	kiwīcēw <u>i</u> nāwāw	kiwīcētināwāw	-2p

	VTA CONJUNCT DIRECT	(MIXED-THIRD	SET) INVERSE		
	-3	-3p	3-	3p-	
1-	ē-wīcēwak	-ik	ē-wīcēw <u>i</u> t	-(c)ik	-1
2-	ē-wīcēwat	-(c)ik	ē-wīcēsk	-ik	-2
1p-	ē-wīcēwāyāhk	-i k	ē-wīcēkoyāhk	-ik	-1p
21p-	ē-wīcēwāyahk	-ok	ē-wīcēkoyahk	-ok	-21p
2p-	ē-wīcēwāyēk	-ok	ē-wīcēkoyēk	-ok	-2p
	-3'		3'-		
3-	ē-wīcēwāt		ē-wīcēkot		-3
3p-	ē-wīcēwācik		ē-wīcēkocik		-3p
3'-	ē-wīcēwāyit		ē-wīcēkoyit		-3'

	VTA CONJUNCT (YOU-AND- DIRECT	-ME SET) INVERSE	
	-1 -1 _E	p 1- 1p-	
2-	ē-wīcēw <u>i</u> yan	ē-wīcētān	-2
2/2p-	ē-wīcēw <u>i</u> yāhl	k ē-wīcētāhk	-2/2p
2p-	ē-wīcēw <u>i</u> yēk	ē-wīcētakok	-2p

	VTA IMPERATIVE IMM	(MIXED-THIRD SET)
	-3	-3p
2-	wīcēw	wīcēw <u>i</u> k
21p-	wīcēwātān	wīcēwātānik
2p-	wīcēhk	wīcēhkok
	DEL	
2-	wīcēwāhkan	wīcēwāhkanik
21p-	wīcēwāhkahk	wīcēwāhkahkok
2p-	wīcēwāhkēk	wīcēwāhkēkok

	VTA IMPERATIV IMM	E (YOU-AND-ME SET)
	-1	-1p
2-	wīcēw <u>i</u> n	wīcēw <u>i</u> nān
2p-	wīcēw <u>i</u> k	wīcēw <u>i</u> nān
	DEL	
2-	wīcēw <u>ī</u> hkan	wīcēw <u>ī</u> hkāhk
2p-	wīcēw <u>ī</u> hkēk	wīcēw <u>ī</u> hkāhk

Vw-stems without contraction

A few of the stems that end in a vowel-semivowel sequence never show contraction. The most common examples are stems which consist of a single syllable, such as

mow-

'eat him'

miy-

'give (it) to him'.

But the two-syllable stem

<u>ayāw-</u>

'have him'

is also an exception to the contraction rule: it never shows contraction, e.g.,

nitayāwik

'he has me'.

The following table gives the paradigm of mow" 'eat him (e.g., a fish)' even though many of these forms are semantically odd. This is strictly a grammatical exercise -- just ignore the cannibalistic overtones!

VTA INDEPENDENT DIRECT	(MI XED-TH	IRD SET) INVERSE		
-3	-3p	3-	3p-	
nimowāw	-ak	nimowik	-(w)ak	-1
kimowāw	-ak	kimowik	-(w)ak	-2
nimowānān	-ak	nimowikonān	-ak	-1p
kimowānaw	-ak	kimowikonaw	-ak	-21
kimowāwāw	-ak	kimowikowāw	-ak	-2p
-3'		3'-		
mowew		mowik		-3
mowewak		mowikwak		-3p
mowēyiwa		mowikoyiwa		-3'
	DIRECT -3 nimowāw kimowānān kimowānaw kimowāwāw -3' mowēw mowēwak	DIRECT -3 -3p nimowāw -ak kimowānān -ak nimowānān -ak kimowānaw -ak kimowāwāw -ak -3' mowēw mowēwak mowēwak	DIRECT INVERSE -3 -3p 3- nimowāw -ak nimowik kimowānān -ak nimowikonān kimowānaw -ak kimowikonaw kimowāwāw -ak kimowikowāw -3' 3'- mowēw mowik mowēwak mowikwak	DIRECT INVERSE -3 -3p 3- 3p- nimowāw -ak nimowik -(w)ak kimowānān -ak nimowikonān -ak kimowānaw -ak kimowikonaw -ak kimowāwāw -ak kimowikowāw -ak kimowāwāw -ak kimowikowāw -ak -3' 3'- mowēw mowik mowēwak mowikwak

	VTA INDEPENDENT DIRECT	r (YOU-AND-1	ME SET) INVERSE		
	-1	-1p	1-	1p-	
2-	kimowin		kimowitin		-2
2/2p-		kimowinān		kimowitinān	-2/2p
2p-	kimowināwāw		kimowitināwāw		-2p

	VTA CONJUNCT DIRECT	(MIXED-THIRD	SET) INVERSE		
	-3	-3p	3-	3p-	
1-	ē-mowak	-ik	ē-mowit	-(c)ik	_1
2-	ē-mowat	-(c)ik	ē-mowisk	-ik	-2
1p-	ē-mowāyāhk	-ik	ē-mowikoyāhk	-ik	-1p
21p-	ē-mowāyahk	-ok	ē-mowikoyahk	-ok	-21p
2p-	ē-mowāyēk	-ok	ē-mowikoyēk	-ok	-2p
	-3'		3'-		
3-	ē-mowāt		ē-mowikot		-3
3p-	ē-mowācik		ē-mowikoc	ik	-3p
3'-	ē-mowā	iyit	ē-mowikoy	it	-3'

	VTA CONJUNCT DIRECT	(YOU-AND-ME	SET) INVERSE		
	-1	-1p	1-	1p-	
2-	ē-mowiyan		ē-mowitān		-2
2/2p-		ē-mowiyāhk		ē-mowitāhk	-2/2p
2p-	ē-mowiyēk		ē-mowitakok		-2p

	VTA IMPERATIVE IMM	(MIXED-THIRD SET)
	-3	-3p
2-	mow	mowik
21p-	mowātān	mowātānik
2p-	mowihk	mowihkok
	DEL	
2-	mowāhkan	mowāhkanik
21p-	mowāhkahk	mowāhkahkok
2p-	mowāhkēk	mowāhkēkok

	VTA IMPERATI	VE (YOU-AND-ME SET)
	-1	-1p
2-	mowin	mowinān
2p-	mowik	mowinān
	DEL	
2-	mowīhkan	mowīhkāhk
2p-	mowīhkēk	mowihkahk

t-<u>stems</u>

There is one last class of VTA stems that needs to be discussed: \underline{t} -stems. VTA \underline{t} -stems may be short like

it-

'says so to him'

<u>nāt-</u>

'fetch him'

or long like

<u>piminawat-</u>

'cook for him'

<u>pīkiskwāt-</u>

'speak to him'

pakwāt-

'hate him'

wiyahpit-

'harness him'.

All these stems have a common inflectional complication which is unique to \underline{t} -stems.

Let us begin by looking at the independent paradigm (as used by the writer):

	VTA INDEPENDENT DIRECT	(MIXED-TH	IRD SET) INVERSE	
	-3	-3p	3-	3p-
1-	ninātāw	-ak	ninātik	-(w)ak
2-	kinātāw	-ak	kinātik	-(w)ak
p-	ninātānān	-ak	ninātikonān	-ak
p-	kinātānaw	-ak	kinātikonaw	-ak
p-	kinātāwāw	-ak	kinātikowāw	-ak
	-3'		3'-	
3-	nātēw		nātik	
p-	nātēwak		nātikwak	
_	nātēyiwa		nātikoyiwa	

	VTA INDEPENDENT (YOU-AND-N	ME SET) INVERSE		
	-1	-1p	1-	1p-	
2-	ki <u>nās</u> in		kinātitin		-2
2/2p-	ki _.	<u>nās</u> inān		kinātitinān	-2/2p
2p-	ki <u>nās</u> ināwāw		kinātitināwāw		-2p

The forms of the mixed-third set are exactly like those of the <u>pamih</u>-paradigm.

What is unique about the \underline{t} -stems shows up in the you-and-me set: in the direct forms of that set, the final $\underline{-t}$ - of the stem is replaced by $\underline{-s}$ -:

<u>ki</u>nās<u>in</u>

'you fetch me'.

The corresponding inverse form has the $\underline{n\bar{a}t}$ - variant of the stem:

<u>ki</u>nāt<u>itin</u>

'I fetch you'.

There is no difference in meaning between \underline{nat} and \underline{nas} .

With the $\underline{n\bar{a}s-}$ variant underscored, one can see a definite pattern in the conjunct paradigm:

J		······································			ר
	VTA CONJUNCT DIRECT	(MIXED-THIRD	SET) INVERSE		
	-3	-3p	3-	3p-	
1-	ē-nātak	-ik	ē- <u>nās</u> it	-(c)ik	_1
2-	ē-nātat	-(c)ik	ē-nātisk	-ik	-2
1p-	ē-nātāyāhk	-ik	ē-nātikoyāhk	-ik	-1p
21p-	ē-nātāyahk	-ok	ē-nātikoyahk	-ok	-21p
2p-	ē-nātāyēk	-ok	ē-nātikoyēk	-ok	-2p
	-31		3'-		
3-	ē-nātāt		ē-nātikot		-3
3p-	ē-nātācik		ē-nātikoc	ik	-3p
3'-	ē-nātā	yit	ē-nātikoy	it	-3'
	L		L		

	VTA CONJUNCT DIRECT	(YOU-AND-ME	SET) INVERSE		
	-1	-1p	1-	1p-	
2-	ē- <u>nās</u> iyan		ē-nātitān		-2
2/2p-		ē- <u>nās</u> iyāhk		ē-nātitāhk	-2/2p
2p-	ē- <u>nās</u> iyēk		ē-nātitakok		-2p

	VTA IMPERATIVE IMM	(MIXED-THIRD SET)
	-3	-3p
2-	nas	<u>nās</u> ik
21p-	nātātān	nātātānik
2p-	nātihk	nātihkok
	DEL	
2-	nātāhkan	nātāhkanik
21p-	nātāhkahk	nātāhkahkok
2p-	nātāhkēk	nātāhkēkok

	VTA IMPERATI	VE (YOU-AND-ME SET)	
	- 1	-1p	
2-	<u>nās</u> in	<u>nās</u> inān	
2p-	<u>nās</u> ik	<u>nās</u> inān	
	DEL		
2-	<u>nās</u> īhkan	<u>nās</u> īhkāhk	
2p-	<u>nās</u> īhkēk	<u>nās</u> īhkāhk	

The $\underline{nas-}$ variant occurs in three isolated forms: the 3-1 conjunct form

<u>ē-nāsit</u>

'he is fetching me'

and the immediate imperative forms for 2-3 and 2-3p:

<u>nās</u>

'fetch him!'

<u>nāsik</u>

'fetch them!'

All the other instances of $\underline{nas-}$ occur in the direct you-and-me forms:

	VTA INDEPENDENT DIRECT	(YOU-AND-ME SET)
	-1	-1p
2-	kināsin	kināsinān
2p-	kināsināwāw	kināsinān

	VTA CONJUNCT (YOU-AND-ME SET) DIRECT	
	-1	-1p
2-	ē-nāsiyan	ē−nāsiyāhk
2p-	ē-nāsiyēk	ē-nāsiyāhk

VTA IMPERATI	VE (YOU-AND-ME SET)
-1	-1p
nāsin	nāsinān
nāsik	nāsinān
	IMM -1 nāsin

	VTA IMPERATIVE (YOU-AND-ME SET) DEL	
	-1	-1p
2-	nāsīhkan	nāsīhkāhk
2p-	nāsīhkēk	nāsīhkāhk

In other words, the $\underline{nas-}$ variants show up in exactly the same places as the $\underline{-awi-}$ variants in the \underline{Vw} -paradigm.

Since all the $\underline{nas-}$ variants appear before an $\underline{-i-}$, it seems likely that it is this $\underline{-i-}$ which turns the final $\underline{-t-}$ of the stem into $\underline{-s-}$. We call this replacement $\underline{s-PALATALIZATION}$.

If you look back at the paradigms, you will see that there are many other suffixes starting in -i- which do <u>not</u> turn -t- into -s-, for example,

<u>nināt</u>i<u>k</u>

'he fetches me'.

And if you now go back to the \underline{Vw} -stems, you will see that these are exactly the same places in the paradigm where $\underline{-aw+i-}$ is contracted to $\underline{-\bar{a}-}$.

The two paradigms together show that there are two types of -i- in Cree which have different effects when they follow a stem-final sound:

- (1) contracting <u>-i-</u> does <u>not</u> palatalize a
 preceding <u>-t-;</u>
- (2) <u>non</u>-contracting <u>-i-</u> palatalizes a preceding <u>-t-</u> to <u>-s-</u>.

In both paradigms, the two -i-'s sound (and look) exactly the same 17 but they act in totally opposite ways:

$$\frac{ki - -in}{ki - -itin} \quad \begin{array}{c} 2-1 \\ 1-2; \end{array}$$

but in Kickapoo the two endings start with distinct sounds:

$$\frac{ke--i}{ke--ene} = 2-1$$

This suggests that long ago the palatalizing $\underline{-i-}$ and the non-palatalizing $\underline{-i-}$ were also distinct in Cree. But today they sound exactly alike and only their effect on the preceding sounds indicates that they were once different.

¹⁷ In Kickapoo, an Algonquian language that is closely related to Cree, the situation is different. This language (Voorhis 1974:67-68) has forms which correspond to Cree

		<u>non</u> -
	contracting $\underline{-i-}$	contracting $-i-$
1		[<u>kimisk</u> aw+i <u>n</u>]
palatalizing		<u>kimisk</u> awi <u>n</u>
<u>-i-</u>		
		[<u>kinā</u> t+i <u>n</u>]
		<u>kinā</u> s <u>in</u>
	[<u>kimisk</u> aw+i <u>tin</u>]	
non-	<u>kimisk</u> ā <u>tin</u>	
palatalizing		
<u>-i-</u>	[<u>kinā</u> t+i <u>tin</u>]	
	<u>kinā</u> t <u>itin</u>	

Text examples:

Independent

1-3 nititāw

1-3p nititāwak

3-3' nawaswātēw

3p-3' nawaswātēwak

3-1 nipakwātik

3p-1 nikī-pē-nātikwak

3-1p nititikonān

Conjunct

1-3 kā-pēyakwahpitak

1-3p kā-itakik

3p-3' ē-kī-wiyahpitācik

3'- ē-pē-minihkwātāyit

3-1 kā-kī-pakwāsit

3p-1 ē-pīkiskwāsicik

3p-1p ē-paminawatikoyāhkik

3p-21p ē-kī-isiyīhkātikoyahkik

1-2p ka-kī-pim-āy-ititakok

Single-syllable stems

There is one additional complication with \underline{t} -stems: the immediate imperative form for 2-3,

nās

'fetch him!'

Why does this form have the \underline{s} -variant? If we look at all the earlier paradigm tables, there is never any ending for the 2-3 imperative, e.g.,

pamih

'look after him!'

pakamah

'hit him!'

miskaw

'find him!'

But if we look at stems which consist of a single syllable, e.g.,

ah-

'put him there'

nitahāw

'I put him there',

we suddenly hear (and see) an ending -i for the 2-3 imperative: 18

<u>ahi</u>

'put him there!'

This 2-3 imperative ending $\underline{-i}$ must be a palatalizing $\underline{-i-}$ because we have forms such as

[<u>nā</u>t+i]

nās

'fetch him!'

and even a form with the -i- showing up:

[it+i]

isi

'say so to him!'

¹⁸ In this respect, these stems are similar to single-syllable noun stems like <u>nisk-</u> NA 'goose' or <u>miht-</u> NI 'wood'. Single-syllable stems are the only nouns which show the singular endings -a (animate) and -i (inanimate).

Note that the $\underline{-i}$ usually drops after single-syllable stems with a long vowel, ¹⁹ as in

<u>nās</u>

'fetch him!'

 $\underline{\mathsf{mow}}$

'eat him!'

miy

'give it to him!'

$\underline{\mathsf{st}}$ -stems

VTA \underline{t} -stems all have a vowel before the \underline{t} -- with only one exception:

kost-

'be afraid of him'.

This stem has a variant kos- before those endings which start with the palatalizing -i-; for example,

<u>ki</u>kos<u>in</u>

'you are afraid of me'

<u>ki</u>kost<u>itin</u>

'I am afraid of you'.

This shows that the vowels of $\underline{mow-}$ and $\underline{miy-}$ are actually long even though we do not mark them as long before $\underline{-w-}$ and $\underline{-y-}$.

The full paradigm (as used by the writer):

VTA INDEPENDENT DIRECT	(MI XED-TH)	IRD SET) INVERSE		
-3	-3p	3-	3p-	
nikostāw	-ak	nikostik	-(w)ak	-1
kikostāw	-ak	kikostik	-(w)ak	-2
nikostānān	-ak	nikostikonān	-ak	-1p
kikostānaw	-ak	kikostikonaw	-ak	-21
kikostāwāw	-ak	kikostikowāw	-ak	-2p
-3'		3'-		
kostēw		kostik		-3
kostēwak		kostikwak		-3p
kostēyiwa		kostikoyiw	a	-3'
	DIRECT -3 nikostāw kikostāw nikostānān kikostānaw kikostāwāw -3' kostēw kostēwak	DIRECT -3 -3p nikostāw -ak kikostāwāw -ak nikostānān -ak kikostānaw -ak kikostāwāw -ak -3' kostēw	DIRECT INVERSE -3 -3p 3- nikostāw -ak nikostik kikostāw -ak kikostik nikostānān -ak nikostikonān kikostānaw -ak kikostikonaw kikostāwāw -ak kikostikowāw -3' 3'- kostēw kostik kostēwak kostikwak	DIRECT INVERSE -3 -3p 3- 3p- nikostāw -ak nikostik -(w)ak kikostāw -ak kikostikonān -ak nikostānān -ak kikostikonāw -ak kikostānaw -ak kikostikonāw -ak kikostāwāw -ak kikostikowāw -ak kostēw kostik kostikwak

	VTA INDEPENDENT DIRECT	(YOU-AND-N	ME SET) INVERSE	
	-1	-1p	1- 1p-	
2-	ki <u>kos</u> in		kikostitin	-2
2/2p-		ki <u>kos</u> inān	kikostitinān	-2/2p
2p-	ki <u>kos</u> ināwāw		kikostitināwāw	-2p

VTA CONJUNCT DIRECT	(MIXED-THIR	O SET) INVERSE		
-3	-3p	3-	3p-	
ē−kostak	-ik	ē- <u>kos</u> it	-(c)ik	-
ē-kostat	-(c)ik	ē-kostisk	-i k	_:
ē-kostāyāhk	-ik	ē-kostikoyāhk	-i k	_
ē-kostāyahk	-ok	ē-kostikoyahk	-ok	
ē-kostāyēk	-ok	ē-kostikoyēk	-ok	-:
-3'		3'-		
ē-kostā	t	ē-kostikot		:
ē-kostā	cik	ē-kostikoci	k	-:
ē-kostā	yit	ē−kostikoyi	t	-:
	DIRECT -3 -3	DIRECT -3 -3p ē-kostak -ik ē-kostat -(c)ik ē-kostāyāhk -ik ē-kostāyahk -ok ē-kostāyēk -ok	DIRECT INVERSE -3 -3p 3- ē-kostak -ik ē-kostit ē-kostat -(c)ik ē-kostisk ē-kostāyāhk -ik ē-kostikoyāhk ē-kostāyāhk -ok ē-kostikoyāhk ē-kostāyēk -ok ē-kostikoyēk -3' 3'- ē-kostāt ē-kostikot ē-kostācik ē-kostikoci	DIRECT INVERSE -3 -3p 3- 3p- ē-kostāk -ik ē-kostisk -ik ē-kostāyāhk -ik ē-kostikoyāhk -ik ē-kostāyāhk -ok ē-kostikoyāhk -ok ē-kostāyāk -ok ē-kostikoyāk -ok -3' 3'- ē-kostikot ē-kostācik ē-kostikocik

	VTA CONJUNCT DIRECT	YOU-AND-ME	SET) INVERSE		
	-1	-1p	1-	1p-	
2-	ē- <u>kos</u> iyan		ē-kostitān		-2
2/2p-		ē- <u>kos</u> iyāhk		ē-kostitāhk	-2/2p
2p-	ē- <u>kos</u> iyēk		ē-kostitakok		-2p

	VTA IMPERATIVE IMM	(MIXED-THIRD SET)
	-3	-3p
2-	<u>kos</u> i	<u>kos</u> ik
21p-	kostātān	kostātānik
2p-	kostihk	kostihkok
	DEL	
2-	kostāhkan	kostāhkanik
21p-	kostāhkahk	kostāhkahkok
2p-	kostāhkēk	kostāhkēkok

	VTA IMPERATIVE	E (YOU-AND-ME SET)
	-1	-1p
2-	<u>kos</u> in	<u>kos</u> inān
2p-	<u>kos</u> ik	<u>kos</u> inān
	DEL	
2-	<u>kos</u> īhkan	<u>kos</u> īhkāhk
2p-	<u>kos</u> īhkēk	<u>kos</u> īhkāhk

Just as with the stems $\underline{\text{miskaw-}}$ 'find him' and $\underline{\text{mow-}}$ 'eat him', many of these forms are semantically awkward. But if you did want to tell someone 'be scared of him', the form you would have to use is $\underline{\text{kosi}}$.

At first, the VTA paradigms that have contraction or \underline{s} -palatalization look quite messy. But once you study them in detail and compare the various types, they all turn out to follow the same pattern.

SPECIAL PARADIGMS

In discussing the four basic verb paradigms -- VAI, VII, VTI, VTA -- we looked at a number of complications such as

- -- the $-\bar{e}$ and $-\bar{a}$ variants of VAI stems like pimohte;
- -- the spelling of VAI \underline{i} and $\underline{\bar{i}}$ -stems before $\underline{-y}$ and \underline{o} and $\underline{\bar{o}}$ -stems before $\underline{-w}$ -;
- -- the ways in which VAI and VII \underline{n} -stems differ from vowel stems;
- -- the VTA stems in -Cw-;
- -- and the VTA stems with contraction and s-palatalization.

All of these problems came up in the basic paradigms, and you need to be aware of them almost from the start.

There is another complication which is found with all verb stems that begin in -o-. Instead of the $\underline{\text{nit-}}$ variant of the personal prefixes which occurs with all other vowels, stems beginning in -o- may simply take $\underline{\text{n-}}$. (This is similar to the pattern found with dependent noun stems.) With either $\underline{\text{nit-}}$ or $\underline{\text{n-}}$, the initial $\underline{-o-}$ of the stem is lengthened to $-\bar{o-}$; for example,

o<u>sīhtā-</u>
'make (it)'

<u>nitōsīhtān</u>

<u>nōsīhtān</u>

Text examples:

nitocihcikiskisin notihtapinahisinin notinananak

Summary of special paradigms

The texts also include a number of verb forms which differ somewhat from those of the basic paradigms. But there are only a few examples for each of these SPECIAL paradigms.

The following list identifies the forms that occur in the texts: 20

Subjunctive:

<u>itinikētwāwi</u>

Iterative (and initial change):

wā-mīcisoyahki

<u>wā-asamacik</u>

tiyehtapiyan

subjunctive and iterative (p.46) initial change (pp.82-83) preterit (p.45) relational (p.60) diminutive (p.61)

For further discussion of these special paradigms see Plains Cree: a grammatical study (Wolfart 1973):

Preterit:

nipimācihohtān

Relational:

ka-āhtohtēwiht
kik-ētācihowiht
kik-ēsi-pimipiciwiht
kā-wī-ātotamwak
kā-kīsasiwātamoht

Diminutive:

nimā-minihkwēsinān

ka-mīcimihkahcikēsit

nicā-cahkacayēnāsiw

These forms deserve the same careful treatment as the basic paradigms but it would take a whole book by itself to present full tables and to analyze the use of these special paradigms in detail.

The indefinite actor paradigm

We will only sketch one special paradigm which is very common both in the texts and in everyday speech. The INDEFINITE actor paradigm consists of forms which do not have a specific actor. For example,

<u>ē-wī-nīmihitohk</u>

'there was going to be dancing' (9-2)

..., iyikohk e-tahkeyihtamihk; ...

'..., people find it so chilly; ...' (4-13)

... ēkosi kī-itācimāw awa.

'... people said this about him.' (8-11)

VAI and VTI stems have only one indefinite actor form each in the independent and conjunct:

VAI

Т	n	٦	_	n	۵	n	a	۵	n	t	•	
_	1 7	ч	C	μ	C	11	u	C	11	L	٠	

Conjunct:

<u>nipā</u> niwiw	ē- <u>nipā</u> hk
<u>pimohtā</u> niwiw	ē- <u>pimohtē</u> hk

 tapasīnāniwiw
 ē-tapasīhk

 pasikōnāniwiw
 ē-pasikōhk

 apināniwiw
 ē-apihk

 ācimonāniwiw
 ē-ācimohk

<u>pimisini</u>nāniwiw <u>ē-pimisini</u>hk

Note that the independent ending has two variants. It is

-niwiw

with stems that already end in $-\bar{a}-$ (the $\bar{a}-$ and $\bar{e}/\bar{a}-$ stems); and it is

<u>-nāniwiw</u>

for all other vowel stems and for the \underline{n} -stems (which use the $\underline{-ni}$ -variant of the stem).

VTI

Independent:

Conjunct:

<u>misk</u>ikātēw

 $\bar{e}-\underline{\text{misk}}$ amihk

Text examples:

āh-ācimonāniwiw

ē-atoskēhk

ē-wayawīhk

ē-wayawīkāpawihk

kā-nīsosimohk

t-āti-tōtamihk

The indefinite actor forms of the VTA paradigm (as used by the writer) make up a whole table:

	VTA INDEFINITE ACTOR INDEPENDENT	CONJUNCT
-1	ni <u>pamih</u> ikawin	ē- <u>pamih</u> ikawiyān
-2	ki <u>pamih</u> ikawin	ē- <u>pamih</u> ikawiyan
-1p	ni <u>pamih</u> ikawinān	ē- <u>pamih</u> ikawiyāhk
-21p	ki <u>pamih</u> ikawinaw	ē- <u>pamih</u> ikawiyahk
-2p	ki <u>pamih</u> ikawināwāw	ē- <u>pamih</u> ikawiyēk
-3	<u>pamih</u> āw	ē- <u>pamih</u> iht
-3p	<u>pamih</u> āwak	ē- <u>pamih</u> ihcik
-3'	<u>pamih</u> imāwa	ē- <u>pamih</u> imiht

This paradigm has two sets of endings. Those for the first and second person are similar to the inverse in meaning, and they all include a morpheme -ikawi-. Those for the third person include -aw- in the independent and -iht- in the conjunct.

In the text examples which follow, the initial $\underline{-i-}$ of $\underline{-iht}$ merges with the final $\underline{-w-}$ of $\underline{Cw-}$ stems and contracts with the final vowel-semivowel sequence of $\underline{Vw-}$ stems:

Independent:

nimasinahikēhikawin nipē-ohci-nātitisahokawin nikēhtinikawinān kī-itācimāw

Conjunct:

k-ētikawiyan

ē-mōsihikawiyāhk

kā-kī-wīhtamākawiyāhk

k-ētiht

kā-kiyokāht

kā-kī-mowihcik

SYNTACTIC PARTICLES: A FIRST LOOK

Particles are words that do not have any inflectional affixes. There are hundreds of particles and they have many different functions.

PARTICLES |

Some particles can be added freely to any phrase, e.g.,

ninēstosin.

'I am tired.'

mitoni ninēstosin.

'I am very tired.'

papāmipahtāwak ōki awāsisak.

'These children are running around.'

misiwe papamipahtawak oki awasisak.

'These children are running around all over the place.'

mīcisotān!

'Let's eat!'

mīcisotān sēmāk!

'Let's eat right now!'

mahti mīcisotān!

'Let's eat!'

With <u>mahti</u>, the imperative form is a weaker and more polite command — but the structure of the sentence remains the same.

Question particles

Other particles occur only in sentences of a certain type; in $\underline{t\bar{a}n}$ - questions, the particle $\underline{t\bar{a}nit\bar{e}}$ 'where', for example, is normally used at the beginning of the sentence:

tānitē ē-wīkit kimis.

'Where does your older sister live?'

In yes-or-no questions, the main clause contains the question particle $c\bar{i}$, e.g.,

kikiskēyihtēn cī ...

'Do you know ...?'

In such a sentence, the question, 'Where does she live?', normally uses a different question particle which does not contain the morpheme $t\bar{a}n-:$

kikiskeyihten cī ite e-wīkit nimis.

'Do you know where my older sister lives?'

The question particle $\underline{it\bar{e}}$ does not even have to stand at the beginning of the subordinate clause, e.g.,

kikiskēyihtēn cī nimis itē ē-wīkit.

The question particle $c\bar{i}$, on the other hand, has a fixed spot: it always comes directly after the word about which the question is being asked; for example,

ayaw cī oma masinahikan kimis.

'Does your older sister have this book?'

kimis cī ayāw oma masinahikan.

'Does your older <u>sister</u> have this book?'

<u>oma cī ayāw masinahikan kimis.</u>

'Does your older sister have this book?21

In other words, the particle \underline{c} is always the second word in the question clause.

If the whole phrase 'this book' is to be emphasized, it is moved to the beginning of the sentence (or extraposed) as a whole, and the focussed phrase is set off by a slight break in the intonation, e.g.,

oma masinahikan, ayaw cī kimis.
'This book, does your older sister have it?'

Particles as predications

Some particles by themselves serve as the main clause to which the rest of the sentence is subordinated.

The particle <u>piko</u>, for example, has more than one meaning and syntactic function. When it means 'only' it normally follows the part of the noun phrase (noun, pronoun, or particle) which it modifies:

nitawāsimisak piko niwāpamāwak.

'I see only my children [and not the others].'

niya piko nitawāsimisak niwāpamāwak.

'I see only my children [and not yours].'

nīso piko nitawāsimisak niwāpamāwak.

'I see only <u>two</u> of my children.'

ōki piko nitawāsimisak niwāpamāwak.

'I see only $\underline{\text{these}}$ of my children.'

masinahikana piko niwāpahtēn.

'I see only books [nothing else].'

nīso piko masinahikana niwāpahtēn.

'I see only two books [no more].'

But when <u>piko</u> is used with the future preverb <u>ka</u> and a conjunct order verb, the main clause consists only of <u>piko</u>, which then means 'it is necessary'; for example,

piko ka-kīwēyān.

'I have to go home.'

piko semāk ka-kīweyān.

'I have to go home right away.'

Many particles clearly have an important function in the make-up of Cree sentences. This is an area which most linguists have totally neglected.

oma NOUN PHRASES AS SUBJECT OR OBJECT

Syntax is a vast field, and the syntactic roles of particles are often especially difficult to pin down. This section, therefore, is only a first attempt at analyzing one such particle.

Every grammar or textbook mentions the demonstrative pronoun \overline{o} ma, but \overline{o} ma has other uses as well. Since the various syntactic functions are not always clearly distinct, we begin with the unambiguous uses of \overline{o} ma.

The demonstrative pronoun oma often occurs with a noun, e.g.,

ōma mōhkomān

'this knife'.

Together, the demonstrative pronoun and the noun constitute a NOUN PHRASE.

A noun-phrase which includes the demonstrative pronoun \overline{o} ma is more definite than one consisting only of a noun, e.g.,

mohkoman

'a knife'

ōma mōhkomān

'this knife, the knife'.

This difference is similar to that between the simple noun form,

mohkoman

'a knife'

and the possessed form,

nimohkoman

'my knife'.

But the \overline{oma} can also be used with the possessed form, e.g.,

<u>oma nimohkomān</u>

'this knife of mine'.

The demonstrative pronoun and the noun it modifies show agreement in number: if the noun is plural, e.g.,

mohkomana

'knives'

the demonstrative pronoun is also plural (\overline{ohi}) instead of \overline{oma} , e.g.,

ōhi mohkomana

'these knives, the knives'.

oma in object noun phrases

The most common use of oma is in object noun phrases, e.g.,

..., nimisken oma mohkoman, ...

'..., I found the knife, ...' (10-5);

most of the text examples have the noun phrase following the verb. The verb form may be either independent (as in the last example) or conjunct, e.g.,

..., kā-otinamān oma minihkwēwin, ...

'..., when I took this drink, ...' (10-10).

Many of the sentences of this type begin with an adverbial phrase, e.g.,

misiwē nimosihtan oma mihko, ...

'I felt the blood all over, ...' (10-5)

..., namoya wihkat nisamahten oma minihkwewin, ...

'..., I have never tasted any drink, ...' (10-11).

All the above examples show the demonstrative pronoun $\underline{\text{preceding}}$ the noun it modifies; but it may also $\underline{\text{follow}}$, e.g.,

wa, nimah-makwahten maskihkiy oma, ...

'Well, I kept chewing this medicine, ...' (10-7).

When \overline{oma} follows the noun, it seems to be slightly less emphatic than the noun. For even greater emphasis on the noun, the entire noun phrase (with \overline{oma} either before or after the noun) may be fronted:

amiskwayanescocinis oma nikikisken, ...

'I was wearing this beaver-pelt hat, ...' (8-4)

ewako oma amiskwayanescocinis nicicaskasihk nitastan, ...

'This beaver-pelt hat I put over my crotch, ...' (8-8).

This last sentence has the pronoun phrase $\underline{\bar{e}wako\ \bar{o}ma}$ instead of the simple pronoun $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$; $\underline{\bar{e}wako\ \bar{o}ma}$ refers to "old" information — things that were mentioned earlier.

The noun phrase which functions as the object of a verb does not always have to consist of both a demonstrative pronoun and a noun. It may be a noun by itself, e.g.,

..., ninātēn mihta, ...

'..., I fetched wood (plural), ...' (8-5)

or it may consist only of the demonstrative pronoun, e.g.,

ēkosi ēkwa nitahkopitēn oma, ...

'And so I bandaged this [my eye], ...' (10-6).

Just as with full noun phrases, the reduced noun phrase which consists only of a demonstrative pronoun can come before or after the verb, e.g.,

wā, nitayān ōma ...

'Well, I have this ...' (8-14)

..., oma māna ē-wāh-wāpahkēcik ...

'..., this they used to watch ...' (10-1).

In some cases, the demonstrative (or reduced noun phrase) is fronted and a full noun phrase occurs after the verb, as an afterthought:

māka oma kiwāpahtēn oma niskīsik, ...

'But you see this, this eye of mine, ...' (10-3).

Finally, the pronoun phrase $\underline{\underline{e}wako\ oma}$ may be used instead of the simple pronoun \underline{oma} . With a noun (which in this example is plural and therefore also shows the plural in the pronoun phrase $\underline{\underline{e}koni\ ohi}$):

<u>ēkwa ēkoni ōhi nicayānisisa nipitikwahpitēn, ...</u>

'And these my clothes I tied in a bundle, ...' (8-9);

without a noun:

... mitoni e-kanaweyihtahkik ewako oma, ...

'... they very much had responsibility for this, ...'
(3-4);

with the pronoun phrase reversed:

wā, nimāh-minihkwēsinān oma ēwako, ...

'Well, we were having a few drinks of this, ...' (8-14).

In either order, the pronoun phrase with $\underline{\bar{e}wako}$ refers to previously mentioned nouns.

oma in indirect object noun phrases

Noun phrases with <u>oma</u> and noun phrases consisting only of <u>oma</u> also occur as the indirect object. In the following sentences (which are not from the texts), the person who gets the book is the direct object, and the book is the indirect object:

ka-miyitin oma masinahikan.

'I will give you this book.'

ōma masinahikan ka-miyitin.

'This book I will give you.'

With the demonstrative pronoun as indirect object:

..., ka-wihtamawakik oma ...

'... for me to tell them this ...' (10-1).

oma in subject noun phrases

Noun phrases with \overline{oma} also occur as the subject of intransitive (VII) verbs. The verb form may be either independent, as in

..., kwayakopayin oma niskisik, ...

'..., this eye of mine fell out, ...' (10-5),

or conjunct, as in

... ē-kī-kanātahk oma kīsikāw.

'... the day was clean.' (4-1).

Sentences with \overline{oma} in the subject noun phrase often begin with an adverbial phrase, e.g.,

kayās iyikohk ē-kī-kanātahk oma askiy.

'Long ago this land used to be so clean.' (2-3)

..., mitoni ākwāc Ōta naniwāhk Ōta, itwēw,

<u>ē-iskwāpēkamok ōma niskīsik, ...</u>

'..., my eye was hanging way down my cheek, he said, ...' (10-5).

The subject noun phrase with $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$ may also precede the verb, e.g.,

..., iyikohk minihkwewin oma e-pimohtemakahk
e-misiwanacihikoyahk; ...

'... there is so much of this drinking going on, it is destroying us; ...' (2-8).

As this example shows, an inanimate noun phrase with <u>oma</u> may also serve as the subject of a transitive (in this case, VTA) verb.

The texts contain no clear examples of <u>oma</u> alone functioning as subject, but such examples are lacking only by accident; they are common enough, e.g.,

miywāsin oma.

'This is good.'

ka-wīsakatahokon ōma.

'This will hurt you.'

EQUATIONAL SENTENCES WITH oma

Sentences do not always have to include a verb. In sentences where you point to something and define it, the demonstrative pronoun follows the noun, and there is no verb. For example,

mohkoman oma.

'This is a knife.'

nimohkoman oma.

'This is my knife.'

In these two examples, \overline{oma} does the pointing, and people often reinforce that pointing by a gesture of the lips, the whole head, or both. Such sentences are especially common with personal names or with kin terms, e.g.,

cān awa.

'This is John.'

<u>nimis awa.</u>

'This is my older sister.'

None of these sentences contains a verb that corresponds to the English verb to be. But in all of them, the second noun phrase is a demonstrative pronoun.

We use the term EQUATIONAL for sentences that equate two noun phrases, e.g.,

..., konit-ācimowinis oma, ...

'..., this is just a little story, ...' (5-1).

But not every type of equational sentence has a demonstrative pronoun as the second noun phrase. In the following sentence, for example, the second constituent is the full noun phrase $\underline{\bar{a}cimowin}\ \bar{o}ma$:

..., ēkotē anima ohci ācimowin ōma, ...

'..., this story is from over there, ...' (5-4).

It makes no difference for the sentence as a whole whether the demonstrative pronoun in the second constituent follows or precedes the noun; for example,

ēkotē anima ohci oma ācimowin.

'<u>This</u> story is from over there.'

When oma precedes acimowin, it is more emphatic.

Identifying the place

The first constituent of an equational sentence very often begins with $\frac{\bar{e}kota}{\bar{e}}$ 'there' or $\frac{\bar{e}kot\bar{e}}{\bar{e}}$ '(further) over there', e.g.,

ēkota oma pehonānihk, ...

'It was there, at Carlton, ...' (9-1).

In this sentence, the first constituent is $\underline{\bar{e}kota}$, and the second is $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$; the locative noun $\underline{p\bar{e}hon\bar{a}nihk}$ 'at Carlton' is an optional extension of the first constituent, $\underline{\bar{e}kota}$. One could also say that the first constituent of this last example,

ēkota ... pēhonānihk,

is DISCONTINUOUS.

 $\underline{\bar{e}kota}$ or $\underline{\bar{e}kot\bar{e}}$ are common in several types of equational sentences, e.g.,

..., ēkota ōma k-ātoskēyāhk, ...

'..., it was there where we worked, ...' (9-2)

ēkotē oma k-ohtohtēyāhk, ...

'It was over there where we came from, ...' (5-4).

In these two sentences, the first constituent is extended by a relative clause with the preverb $\underline{k(\bar{a})}$, as in $\underline{k-\bar{a}tosk\bar{e}y\bar{a}hk}$, which may also come directly after the $\underline{\bar{e}kota}$, e.g.,

ēkota k-ātoskēyāhk oma.

'It was there where we worked.'

Identifying the time

Just like a place, a specific time is often expressed in an equational sentence with such time words as $\underline{\bar{e}kwa}$ 'now, then' or $\underline{\bar{e}kosp\bar{1}}$ 'at that time'. For example,

<u>wā, ēkwa ōma ē-otākosik, ...</u>

'Well, it was now that it was evening, ...' (8-12)

-- ēkwa oma mitoni ē-takahkwēwēhtitāt

ōhi ocoskwanisa, ...

' -- it was then that he really kept time beautifully with his elbows, ...' (9-5)

..., ēkospī oma ohci kēyāpic, ...

'..., it was from that time until now, ...' (10-11).

In this last example, the time phrase

ēkospī ... ohci

is discontinuous but a re-ordered sentence

ēkospī ohci oma keyapic

would mean the same thing.

Identifying "old" information

The first constituent of an equational sentence may also be <u>ewako</u>, the pronoun which refers back to old information; for example,

ēwako ōma.

'It is this.' (10-4)

Note that $\underline{\bar{e}wako}$ and $\underline{\bar{e}kota}$ are built on a common root $\underline{\bar{e}wak-}$ / $\underline{\bar{e}k-}$ which means 'that old information'.

ewako as the first constituent may also be extended by a relative clause, e.g.,

..., ewako oma k-o-tapakwewepinak awa

nitāyimisīwatim, ...'

'..., it was this [rawhide bridle] with which I lassoed this wild horse of mine, ...' (8-11).

But the extension clause may also have an $\underline{\bar{e}}$ -verb, e.g.,

..., ēwako oma kāwi ē-nohtē-kīwētotahkik ...

'..., it is this that they want to go back to ...' (10-1).

Identifying the manner

Finally, the fourth type of $\underline{\bar{e}k}$ - constituent begins in $\underline{\bar{e}kosi}$ 'in this [previously mentioned] manner', for example,

ēkosi oma ē-ispayik, ...

'It is in this way that it is happening, ...' (4-11).

The same syntactic structure is also found with the corresponding verb form in the independent order, e.g.,

ēkosi oma wī-ispayin, ...

'It is in this way that it is going to happen, ...' (4-9).

The difference between the independent verb form

wī-ispayin

'it is going to happen'

and the conjunct verb form

<u>ē-wī-ispayik</u>

'as it is going to be happening'

is the only difference between the above two sentences, and it seems to have no influence on the syntactic structure.

Questions

Question words like $\underline{t\bar{a}nisi}$ 'how' very often occur in sentences like

tānisi oma isinākwan.

'What does it look like?'

tānisi oma ē-isinākwahk.

'What does it look like now?'

which appear to have the same structure as equational sentences with $\bar{e}kosi$.

As the following example shows, the oma is optional:

..., ēkonik ōki ē-wiyasiwātahkik

tānisi ōma kik-ēsi-pimipiciwiht

mīna tānisi kik-ētācihowiht, ...

'..., they decided how it is

that one should move camp

and how one should live, ...' (3-4).

The extension may simply be a personal pronoun like $\underline{w\bar{1}staw\bar{a}w}$ 'they too', e.g.,

..., tānisi oma wīstawāw, ...

'..., how it is with them, too, ...' (10-1).

But it may also be a full conjunct clause, for example with the question word tanehki 'why':

..., tānēhki ōma kā-kī-miyikowisiyahk ...

'..., why it is that we were given [this] ...' (2-8).

Simple adverbs

Besides words like $\underline{\bar{e}kota}$ or $\underline{t\bar{a}n\bar{e}hki}$, equational sentences with $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$ may also have simple adverbs as the first constituent, e.g.,

..., napatē oma namoya niwapin, ...

'..., it is on one side that I am blind, ...' (10-3)

..., kēyāpic oma ka-wāpamināwāw ...

'..., the time will come that you will see me ...' (6-7)

... kotak oma ohpime e-ayacik ...

'... it was another [camp], they were off to the side...'
(9-2).

Personal pronouns

Finally, equational sentences are often built on a personal pronoun, e.g.,

..., ēkwa nīstanān oma mitoni

ninihtā-nīmihitonān, ...

'..., and it was us, too, we were really good dancers, ...' (9-2)

kiyanaw oma e-kī-tipeyihtamahk, ...

'It was us who owned it, ...' (2-7)

<u>õma kiyānaw 'pagans' nanātohk</u>

<u>e-kī-isiyīhkātikoyahkik, ...</u>

'<u>Us</u> it was that they called 'pagans' and all kinds of names, ...' (10-17).

With the two constituents reversed, as in this last example, there is even greater emphasis.

FACTIVE oma

The two major uses of $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$ which we have discussed are non-verbal; in all our examples up to now, $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$ has either modified a noun, e.g.,

oma mohkoman

'this knife';

or it has itself served as a noun phrase in an equational sentence, e.g.,

mohkoman oma.

'This is a knife.'

But there are also many sentences where $\overline{\underline{o}}\underline{m}\underline{a}$ directly follows a verb without being either the subject or the object.

This use of \overline{oma} is most clearly seen in sentences where there is no inanimate subject or object at all, e.g.,

ē-nohte-kīweyān oma.

'I want to go home.'

In this sentence, the \overline{oma} highlights the action of the verb in about the same way as the demonstrative pronoun when it makes the noun more definite. We call this use of \overline{oma} FACTIVE.

Simple sentences with factive oma

Factive $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$ seems to be most common with conjunct verb phrases, e.g.,

ē-wī-mīcisoyān ōma.

'I am going to eat.'

A conjunct verb phrase without oma, e.g.,

ē-wī-mīcisoyān,

is not normally used as a sentence by itself; it would always occur with another constituent, e.g.,

ē-wī-mīcisoyān pitamā.

'I am going to eat first.'

But factive $\underline{\tilde{o}ma}$ is also used with independent verb phrases, e.g.,

<u>ninēstosin ōma.</u>

'I am tired.'

This sentence seems to indicate some connection to the preceding discourse; this is what makes it different from the simple declarative sentence,

<u>ninēstosin.</u>

'I am tired.'

In all these examples $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$ is a constituent by itself; the verb phrase is the first constituent, and $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$ the second. These sentences therefore have the same structure as the equational sentences which consist of a noun phrase and $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$. The last sentence, for example, could be translated literally as,

'It is = I am tired.'

'It is that I am tired.'

Many of the text examples of factive $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$ occur as part of a larger sentence, e.g.,

... kā-nīsosimohk oma, ...

'... it was Red River jigging, ...' (9-4)

ēkota ēkwa ē-apiyān ōma, ...

'It was there that I was sitting now, ...' (10-7)

ēkosi isi piyis ē-nāhnāskonak ōma, ...

'It was in this way that I finally pulled him in, ...' (8-11).

In the next two examples, the sentence with factive $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$ follows an earlier equational sentence:

ēkota anima, itwēw,

ē-cahkāpiciniyān oma, itwew, ...

'That was there, he said, I punctured my eye, he said, ...' (10-4)

ēwako oma, itwew, ...,

<u>ē-nitawi-nāciwanihikanēyān ōma, itwēw.</u>

'It was this, he said, ..., it was that I was going to check my traps, he said.' (10-4)

The following examples illustrate factive $\frac{\bar{o}ma}{\bar{o}m}$ with independent verb phrases:

- ..., itwew, nipaskapin oma, itwew.
- '..., he said, I had my eye gouged out, he said.' (10-3)
- ..., itwēw, namoya wīhkāt nipē-āhkosin oma, itwēw.
- '..., he said, I have never been sick, he said.' (10-3)

Factive \overline{oma} and the verb phrase with which it occurs may be reversed for extra emphasis on 'the fact that': 2

..., oma kā-wī-kīwēyān, ...

'..., for sure, when I am going to go home, ...' (6-6).

or as both the head of a relative and as the object of a transitive verb, e.g.,

kiwapahten cī oma kā-pētāyān.
'Did you see the one I brought?'

This sentence is only superficially similar to clauses where the demonstrative oma occurs as the head of a relative, e.g.,

<u>oma kā-pētāyān</u> 'the one that I brought'

The sentences given until now avoided all inanimate subjects or objects; but there are also many examples of VII verb phrases where the $\overline{o}ma$ is unmistakeably factive; for example,

...; wāhwā, ē-wāsaskotēk oma, itwēw.

'...; wow, it was that there was light, he said.' (7-3)

... kīkisēpā k-āti-sākāstēk oma ...

'... in the morning when day begins to break ...' (3-5)

With VTI verb phrases, the factive \overline{oma} shows up most clearly when another noun phrase occurs as the object of the verb; in this example, the pronoun phrase \overline{ekoni} ohi 'these things' is the object of $\overline{e-k\bar{1}-w\bar{1}htahkik}$ 'they had predicted it/them':

..., ē-kī-wīhtahkik ōma

kayās kisēyiniwak ēkoni ōhi, ...

'..., it is that the old people of long ago had predicted these things, ...' (4-12).

In the example which follows, the sequence $\underline{\bar{e}koni}$ sounds and looks exactly the same as in the preceding sentence; but it is, in fact, an equational clause with the constituents $\underline{\bar{e}koni}$ and $\underline{\bar{o}hi}$:

ēkwa ēkoni ōhi kahkiyaw ōhi

kā-pim-ātotahk ōma, ...

'And these were the ones, all of these, which he has been telling about, ...' (4-1).

Complex sentences with factive oma

A special use of factive $\underline{\tilde{o}ma}$ is when it connects two clauses, e.g.,

ninēstosin, ē-nohtē-kīweyan oma.

'I am tired and I want to go home.'

Although \overline{oma} does not mean 'and' in any other type of sentence, we use 'and' in the English translation of this sentence to show the connection between the two clauses.

The two clauses which constitute this sentence are separated by a break in intonation; this break often comes out as a pause, and we use the comma to indicate it in writing.

The same two verb phrases and the break between them could also be said without the \overline{oma} . In that case, however, they are two completely separate clauses; we indicate this with a semicolon:

ninēstosin; ē-nohtē-kīwēyān.

'I'm tired; I want to go home.'

It is the $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$, therefore, which turns the two clauses into a connected sentence.

In the following example from the texts, the break between the two clauses is emphasized by the inserted itwēw 'he said':

wāhwā, nikawacipayin, itwēw,
mitoni ē-nōkosiyān ōma, itwēw.

'Wow, I got a chill, he said, and by gosh I was born, he said.' (7-3)

The next sentence has two instances of oma in this role:

"..." nititāwak ōki awāsisak,

e-pāhpihakik ōma,

e-ācimoyān ōma.

'"..." I told these children,
and I was joking with them
and I was telling them a story.' (6-1)

Both $\overline{o}ma$ -clauses seem to be connected to the main clause.

The oma-clause may also come first, e.g.,

wā, māka mīna ē-kī-misi-kīskwēpēt ōma
ē-kīwēt ēkwa, ...

'Well, he had once again been on a binge and now he was coming home, ...' (5-5).

The texts contain many other examples of $\overline{o}ma$, and it is sometimes very difficult to discover the syntactic structure of a live sentence.

OTHER USES OF oma

With verbs like

nikiskēyihtēn

'I know it'

that which you know can either be expressed by a noun phrase, e.g.,

nikiskēyihtēn oma.

'I know this.'

or by a whole sentence, e.g.,

nikiskeyihten oma e-wi-kiweyan.

'I know that you are going to go home.'

Such sentences are called COMPLEMENT sentences, and the \overline{oma} which introduces subordinate sentences of this type is called a COMPLEMENTIZER.

The sentences which follow are typical examples of $\overline{\underline{o}ma}$ as a complementizer:

ka-kī-kiskēyihtahkik oma ē-nēhiyāwicik, ...

'They should know that they are Cree, ...' (1-2)

...; ēkwa ē-pēhtahk oma ēkota ē-ayāyān, ...

'...; and when he heard that I was there, ...' (8-13).

The complementizer \overline{oma} belongs to the main clause; it cannot be moved into the subordinate clause. If we want to emphasize it, on the other hand, we can move it to the beginning of the main clause, e.g.,

<u>oma ka-kī-kiskēyihtahkik, ē-nēhiyāwicik.</u>

'This they should know, that they are Cree.'

Note that in this sentence the main clause and the subordinate clause are separated by a strong intonation break.

There are, of course, many gaps in this brief survey. <u>ōma</u> has other uses in addition to those we have studied. For example, there may well be other types of sentences with <u>ōma</u> as a complementizer, and we have barely mentioned the role which <u>ōma</u> plays as the head of relative clauses. But a detailed analysis of <u>ōma</u> in all its uses would fill a whole book.

TEACHING WITH TEXTS

The most important type of training that a language teacher needs is to understand how his or her language works. This is the reason why this presentation of Cree grammar has concentrated on the structure of the language. This is a complicated topic by itself, and the discussion of classroom methods would have introduced yet another dimension.

Teachers who want to follow the inquiry method will find many areas in this text-based approach where students can discover a structural point for themselves. For example, a pair of paradigm tables can be compared with the use of transparent overlays. Another obvious technique would be to use the actual text examples which follow each paradigm as the basis of paradigm drills; with person, number and mode, each verb form taken from the texts can be expanded into dozens of drills and conversations — and if you worry about running out, simply add another preverb!

CREE GRAMMAR

The inflectional paradigms cover only a small part of Cree structure. We have already seen that there are special paradigms which add a whole new dimension to the basic paradigms that we have worked through.

<u>Syntax</u>

Other areas of Cree grammar have barely been mentioned. One is the structure of Cree sentences. The chapter on the syntactic function of particles is only a first attempt to look at this issue, and $\underline{\bar{o}ma}$ is only one of the many syntactic particles. Most other areas of Cree syntax have never been touched at all.

<u>Semantics</u>

The meaning of stems, inflected words, and phrases is often very difficult to define in another language. The noun stem

maskihkiy- NI,

for example, is usually translated as 'medicine' but the English word

medicine

and the Cree word

maskihkiy

have only part of their meanings in common. There are many meanings of maskihkiy which are not covered by the word medicine.

Even within Cree, the stem

maskihkiy- NI

can have very different meanings. In the following sentence, for example,

- ..., nimāh-mākwahtēn maskihkiy ōma, ...
- '..., I kept chewing this medicine, ...' (10-7),

maskihkiy refers to a substance used for healing. But it may also
mean practically the opposite; in

- ... iyikohk e-astat maskihkiy

 nanatohk kistikanihk e-apacihtat.
- '... he puts in so many chemicals of all kinds and uses them on the fields.' (4-7)

it refers to fertilizers and poisonous substances.

Sometimes two related meanings are found in what looks like the same word:

kistikān

- 'a kernel of grain'
- 'a field'.

But in fact there are two distinct stems:

<u>kistikān-</u> NA

'grain'

kistikān- NI

'field'.

The difference is obvious when you add a demonstrative pronoun:

<u>awa kistikān</u>

'this grain'

<u>oma kistikān</u>

'this field'.

This example has two further complications. First, you can use the plural of $kistik\bar{a}n-$ NI 'field', e.g.,

<u>kistikāna</u>

'fields'

but there is no plural form for <u>kistikān-</u> NA 'grain' which is a collective noun; it only has a singular form.

Second, the diminutive stem,

kiscikānis- NI,

is ambiguous; in some contexts, it may mean 'a small field' but normally it has the more specialized meaning,

'a garden'.

A similar situation is found with possessed noun stems; when

<u>oskinīkiw-</u>

'young man'

is used as the base of a possessive stem,

-oskinīkīm-,

a form like

<u>nitōskinīkīm</u>

literally means 'my young man'. When it is used in context, it can mean 'my son' but it usually has the specialized meaning,

'my hired man'.

If you want to indicate that there is a close relationship between the possessor and the possessed, you can form a diminutive from the possessed stem:

nicoskinīkīmis

'my own hired man'.

This kind of diminutive is also used with inanimate nouns, e.g.,

astotin- NI

'hat'

nitastotin

'my hat'

<u>nicascocinis</u>

'my favourite hat'.

In other words, the diminutive can also be used for terms of endearment.

These are just a few of the semantic patterns that one can find in a set of texts.

Derivation

The last few examples were presented to show differences in meaning; but they also illustrate another very important area of Cree grammar. They show how one stem can be derived from another. This is an area of Cree grammar that is particularly productive.

There are many different types of derivation. Almost any Cree stem can be used as the base of a diminutive; for example:

<u>ispatināw-</u> NI

'hill'

ispacinās- NI

'small hill'

<u>ispatinā-</u> VII

'be a hill'

<u>ispacināsin-</u> VII

'be a small hill'

mistahi IPC

'lots'

miscahīs IPC

'quite a bit'.

Another very common type of derivation is reduplication, e.g.,

mācosi- VAI

'cry a little'

ma-mācosi- VAI

'be crying a little'

<u>ācimo-</u> VAI

'tell a story'

<u>āh-ācimo-</u> VAI

'tell stories'.

The reduplication patterns of Cree are complex, and their meanings can vary a great deal; for a more detailed discussion of this topic see 'Productive reduplication in Plains Cree' (Ahenakew & Wolfart 1983).

In diminutive formation and reduplication, stems keep their stem class; an inanimate noun, for example, stays an inanimate noun. But there are other patterns of derivation which derive nouns from verbs, intransitive verbs from transitive ones, and so on.

Almost any VAI stem can be used as the base of an inanimate noun; all that needs to be done is to add the suffix <u>-win-</u>:

<u>pīkiskwē-</u> VAI

'speak'

pīkiskwēwin- NI

'speech; word'

<u>āhkosi-</u> VAI

'be sick'

āhkosiwin- NI

'sickness'

ācimo- VAI

'tell a story'

<u>ācimowin-</u> NI

'story'.

The meaning of these nouns is often the same as the meaning of the verbs from which they are derived, or at least closely related.

In other kinds of derivation, the meaning may change quite a bit. When you derive intransitive verbs from transitive stems with the suffix $-ik\bar{e}-$, for example, the derived stems usually have a more general meaning:

niton- VTI

'look for it'

<u>nitonikē-</u> VAI

'look around'

nakipit- VTI

'stop it'

<u>nakipicikē-</u> VAI

'come to a stop'

ohciyaw- VTA

'win (with something) from him'

ohciyākē- VAI

'win (with something)'.

But sometimes the meaning may also be more specialized:

kisīpēkin- VTI

'wash it'

<u>kisīpēkinikē-</u> VAI

'wash clothes'

otin- VTI

'take it'

otinike- VAI

'make a purchase'.

Derivational patterns use one stem or class of stems to form another. But languages also borrow individual words form other languages. The texts, for example, include such proper names as

kanata NI

'Canada'

pinkow NA

'Bingo'

and also ordinary noun stems such as

savaz- NA

'savage'

which is a loan word from French.

Loan words are usually borrowed one at a time. Many derivational patterns, on the other hand, can be applied to any number of stems; they are an excellent topic for class discussions.

TEXT-BASED LANGUAGE TEACHING

It is clear that this introduction to text-based language teaching deals only with a small part of Cree grammar.

Although it is not presented as a set of lesson plans, it is meant as a step-by-step introduction. This is the reason why it moves quite slowly at the beginning, and why the more complicated problems are left for the later part of each section.

Since this book is designed to be used together with wāskahikaniwiyiniw-ācimowina (Ahenakew 1984), a special effort has been made to deal with all the inflectional patterns that are found in these texts. It is not possible, of course, to discuss each word in full detail; but every inflectional form is at least mentioned.

Full paradigms are given for each noun and verb type. This has several advantages over the tables of prefixes and suffixes which are

often found in linguistic works. When you write out the full paradigm, any complications or problems jump right at you. It is also easier to compare full words from one paradigm to another instead of looking at stems and affixes which need to be put together with morpheme-boundary rules. The most important advantage is that these full paradigms do not contain hypothetical morphemes — they consist of real words.

All the examples in this book are <u>real</u> Cree. Most of them come from running texts; they are labelled by story and paragraph, and you can easily refer back to the full context. In some cases, however, it was easier to use made-up examples to introduce a particular point of grammar. Except for those which have the text label, all the words and sentences in this book represent the speech of the author.

CREE EDUCATION

The main goal of this book is language teaching, and our discussion has concentrated on the linguistic structure of Cree. But the texts from which most of our examples come are not just bits and pieces of sentences; they have a larger text structure as well. In several of them, for example, the main story is enclosed in a much shorter story that serves as a frame; such texts use itwew 'he said' over and over again to remind the listener of that frame.

Most texts belong to a particular kind of story, and they are easy to recognize if you are familiar with Cree literature. There are

also clear differences of style: a funny little story, for example, uses less elevated Cree than a text that carries the advice of the elders.

Stories are an important part of the Cree way of life, and each story in turn illustrates various aspects of Cree culture. Some stories offer an explicit view of the old times: the elders singing and announcing their decisions as they walk around the camp-circle; or the importance of contests — this short collection of texts has one story about a dancing contest and another about a contest in story-telling!

In other stories, the Cree way of life is reflected less directly but it is interwoven in all texts. There is always concern for the children, respect for the elders, and laughter shared with those who can laugh about their own misfortunes.

nīswayak kitisi-kiskinahamākonānaw ōhi ācimowina, k-ēsi-nēhiyawēyahk ēkwa k-ēsi-nēhiyāwiyahk.

REFERENCES

Ahenakew, Freda

1984 <u>wāskahikaniwiyiniw-ācimowina</u> / Stories of the House People.

Winnipeg: University of Manitoba Press. [in press]

Ahenakew, Freda, & H. Christoph Wolfart

'Productive reduplication in Plains Cree.'

W. Cowan, réd., <u>Actes du Quatorzième Congrès des</u>

<u>Algonquinistes [Québec, 1982]</u>, pp. 369-377. Ottawa:

Carleton University.

Bloomfield, Leonard

- 1930 <u>Sacred stories of the Sweet Grass Cree.</u>

 National Museum of Canada Bulletin 60. Ottawa.
- 1934 <u>Plains Cree texts.</u>

 American Ethnological Society Publications 16. New York.

Edwards, Mary

1954 <u>Cree: an intensive language course.</u>

Meadow Lake, Saskatchewan: Northern Canada Evangelical

Mission.

- 1979 <u>Cree: an intensive language course.</u> Revised by Ida McLeod. Saskatoon: Saskatchewan Indian Cultural College.
- 1982 <u>Cree: an intensive language course.</u> Revised by Ida McLeod. Saskatoon: Saskatchewan Indian Cultural College.

Ellis, C. Douglas

1983 <u>Spoken Cree: West Coast of James Bay.</u> Revised edition.

Edmonton: Pica Pica Press.

Voorhis, Paul H.

1974 <u>Introduction to the Kickapoo language.</u>

Language Science Monographs 13. Bloomington: Indiana
University Publications.

Wolfart, H. Christoph

1973 <u>Plains Cree: a grammatical study.</u>

American Philosophical Society Transactions, n.s., vol. 63, pt. 5. Philadelphia.

Wolfart, H. Christoph, & Janet F. Carroll

1981 Meet Cree: a quide to the Cree language. New and completely revised edition.
Edmonton: University of Alberta Press.